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CO M PLAINTFO R DAM AGES AND FO R DECLARATO RY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

INTRODUCTION

1. Th is com plaintdetails a com plex crim inalenterpris e conce ived and executed by

anti-abortion extrem ists . Th e expre s s aim ofth e enterpris e— w h ich stretch ed over years and

involved fak e com panie s , fak e identifications , and large -scale illegaltaping— w as to dem onize

Planned Parenth ood, h aras s and intim idate its dedicated staff, and interruptits operations , allw ith

th e ultim ate goalofinterfering w ith w om en’s acce s s to legalabortion.

2. Plaintiff Planned Parenth ood Federation ofAm erica, Inc., th rough its 59 m em ber-

affiliate s , including th e Plaintiffaffiliate s (collectively h ereafter “Planned Parenth ood”), provide s

profe s s ional, h igh -q uality reproductive and in som e cas e s prim ary h ealth care s ervice s to m ore

th an tw o and a h alfm illion w om en, m en, and young people each year. Planned Parenth ood is one

ofth e country’s large stproviders ofreproductive h ealth care for w om en, th e m ajority ofw h om are

from low er-incom e com m unitie s . Planned Parenth ood provide s , every year, over 2.9 m illion

birth controlservice s and inform ation, h undreds ofth ousands ofPap te sts , nearly h alfa m illion

breastexam inations , nearly 4.5 m illion te sts for s exually transm itted illnes s e s (including H IV),

and a range ofcritically nece s sary treatm ents including safe, legalabortion. A sm allnum ber of

Planned Parenth ood affiliate s h ave offered w om en th e option ofdonating fetaltis sue for m edical

re s earch .

3. Fetaltis sue donation is entirely legaland plays a vitalrole in m edicalre s earch .

Virtually every person in th e United State s h as benefited from re s earch th atrelie s on fetaltis sue .

Vaccine s for polio, h epatitis , rubella, ch ick en pox, s h ingles , rabie s , and an experim entalvaccine

for Ebola, h ave been developed th rough re s earch involving fetaltis sue . Fetalcells are criticalfor

studying conditions th ataffectth e h ealth offetus e s and new born infants , brain injurie s in th e

w om b th atlead to cerebralpalsy, and e ye conditions th atlead to m acular degeneration.

Re s earch ers also h ave us ed fetaltis sue to develop treatm ents for patients w ith H IV, end-stage

breastcancer, diabete s , Park inson’s Dis eas e , m ultiple scleros is , cancer, cardiovascular dis eas e ,

ALS (Lou Geh rig’s Dis eas e), Alzh e im er’s and glaucom a, am ong m any oth ers . Th e National

Institute s ofH ealth spentapproxim ately $76 m illion to supportfetaltis sue re s earch efforts in

2014.
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CO M PLAINTFO R DAM AGES AND FO R DECLARATO RY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

4. M any w om en w h o h ave m ade th e decis ion to h ave an abortion appreciate th e

opportunity to furth e r m edicalre s earch th rough tis sue donation. Th ere is no financialgain for

w om en or h ealth care providers involved in tis sue donation, and th e few Planned Parenth ood

affiliate s th ath ave facilitated fetaltis sue donation h ave done so solely for th e benefitofm edical

re s earch .

5. Defendants’conspiracy focus ed on Planned Parenth ood affiliate s’facilitation of

fetaltis sue donation. As partofth is conspiracy, Defendants s etup a fak e com pany called Biom ax

Procurem entService s , LLC (“BIO M AX”), w h ich dis h one stly h eld its elfoutas a legitim ate fetal

tis sue procurem entcom pany. Certain individualDefendants pretended to be officers and

em ploye e s ofBIOM AX. Th ey created ps eudonym s , m anufactured fak e identification, stole one

w om an’s identity, and us ed a creditcard w ith a fak e nam e . Defendants us ed th os e fak e corporate

and personalidentitie s to gain acce s s to private conference s including th os e h eld by Planned

Parenth ood and th e NationalAbortion Federation (“NAF”). To s ecure adm is s ion into th e s e

conference s , Defendants and th e ir agents s igned binding agreem ents m ak ing prom is e s th e y h ad no

intention ofk e eping. O nce adm itted, Defendants w ore h idden video cam eras and s ecretly taped

h undreds ofh ours ofconversations w ith Plaintiffs’staff.

6. Next, Defendants leveraged th e “profe s s ional”relations h ips th ey m ade atth e

conference s to s e e k acce s s to individualPlanned Parenth ood doctors and affiliate s , lying th e ir w ay

into private m eetings –and even ins ide s ecure Planned Parenth ood office and clinicalspace in

Colorado and Texas . Defendants peppered Planned Parenth ood staffw ith re q ue sts for m eetings ,

lying atevery step aboutw h o th ey w ere and w h atth ey w ere doing. Planned Parenth ood s enior

m edicaland oth er staffm em bers m ade tim e to m e etw ith Defendants in good faith . Th e s e doctors

and oth er staffw ere com pletely unaw are th atth e y w ere be ing s ecretly taped and th atth e y w ould

later be featured in m alicious videos .

7. Defendants th en w entpublic w ith a vicious online video sm ear cam paign, releas ing

a s erie s ofYouTube videos purporting to s h ow th atPlanned Parenth ood violated fede rallaw

related to tis sue donation. In fact, th e s e videos w e re h eavily m anipulated, w ith criticalcontent

deliberately deleted, and disconnected portions s ew n togeth er to create a m isleading im pre s s ion.



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

3
CO M PLAINTFO R DAM AGES AND FO R DECLARATO RY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

According to expertforens ic analys is , Defendants “h eavily edited th e s h ortvideos so as to

m is repre s entstatem ents m ade by Planned Parenth ood’s repre s entatives .” As a cons e q uence, th e

experts concluded th atth e videos “cannotbe relied upon for any officialinq uirie s”and “also

lack ed credibility as journalistic products .”

8. Noneth eles s , th e deceptive videos did th e ir intended dam age . M illions ofpeople

w h o view ed th e m anipulated videos and inflam m atory accusations w ere m ade to believe th at

Planned Parenth ood h ad violated th e law and acted im properly. Th ere w as a dram atic increas e in

th e th reats , h aras sm ent, and crim inalactivitie s targeting abortion providers and th e ir supporters

and, in particular, Planned Parenth ood h ealth centers after th e releas e ofDefendants’videos . Th e

doctors and stafftargeted in th e videos h ave be en th e subjectofonline attack s , h aras sm entatth e ir

h om e s and in th e ir ne igh borh oods , and death th reats .

9 . In addition, Federaland state governm ents w ere spurred to initiate investigations

by CM P’s fallacious claim s . To date, officials in ten state s (O h io, W as h ington, Penns ylvania,

Georgia, Indiana, M as sach us etts , M ich igan, M is souri, Florida and South Dak ota)th atconducted

investigations into claim s th atPlanned Parenth ood profited from fetaltis sue donation h ave cleared

Planned Parenth ood affiliate s ofallw rongdoing. Anoth er e igh tstate s (California, Iow a,

Delaw are, Idah o, M inne sota, New H am ps h ire , Virginia and Colorado)h ave declined to even

investigate Planned Parenth ood — finding noth ing to substantiate claim s ofw rongdoing.

10. Defendants’false statem ents , breach e s ofcontractualagre em ents , illegalrecordings

and th e video sm ear cam paign constitute a conspiracy to dem onize and intim idate Plaintiffs and to

interfere w ith Plaintiffs’and oth er Planned Parenth ood affiliate s’operations . Th is conspiracy h as

costPlaintiffs m illions ofdollars and putth e safety and s ecurity ofPlanned Parenth ood’s

personneland patients ats erious ris k , as w itne s s ed m osth orrifically in th e s h ootings ata Planned

Parenth ood h ealth center in Colorado Springs on Novem ber 27, 2015.

11. Th is action is brough tto expos e th e fals ity and illegality ofDefendants’m eth ods

and to recover dam age s for th e ongoing h arm to Planned Parenth ood em anating from th e video

sm ear cam paign.
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

12. Th is action aris e s unde r th e Rack ete er Influenced and CorruptO rganizations Act,

18 U.S.C. §19 64, 18 U.S.C. §1028 (fraud and related activity in connection w ith identification

docum ents), 18 U.S.C. §1341 (m ailfraud)& §1343 (w ire fraud), 18 U.S.C. §2511 (interception

and disclosure ofw ire , oral, or electronic com m unications), as w ellas various state law s . Th is

Courth as subjectm atter jurisdiction over th is action under 28 U.S.C. §§1331, 1343, 2201, and

2202. Th is Courtalso h as jurisdiction over th is action pursuantto 28 U.S.C. §1367 (supplem ental

jurisdiction).

13. Defendants Th e Center for M edicalProgre s s (“CM P”), Biom ax Procurem ent

Service s , LLC (“BIO M AX”), David Daleiden (ak a “RobertSark is”)(“DALEIDEN”), Troy

New m an (“NEW M AN”), Albin Rh om berg (“RH OM BERG”), Ph illip S. Cronin (“CRONIN”),

Sandra Susan M erritt(ak a “Susan Tennenbaum ”)(“M ERRITT”), and Gerardo Adrian Lopez

(“LOPEZ ”)are subjectto personaljurisdiction in California becaus e th e y h ave directed,

participated in, and provided m aterialsupportfor a sch em e to dece ive Plaintiffs and th e ir staff

w ith in th is Districtand th rough outCalifornia. Each Defendanth as actively participated in th e

conspiracy to defraud Plaintiffs w ith th e intentto injure Plaintiffs w ith in th is Districtand

th rough outCalifornia.

14. Defendants CM P, BIOM AX, DALEIDEN, M ERRITT, RH OM BERG, CRONIN

and LOPEZ are subjectto personaljurisdiction in th is Districtbecaus e th e s e Defendants : (1)are

bas ed in, are incorporated in, or re s ide in th e state ofCalifornia;and (2)h ave conducted bus ine s s

and/or purported to conducttransactions w ith in th is District, and such conducth as caus ed injury to

Plaintiffs in th is District.

15. Venue is proper in th e North ern DistrictofCalifornia under 28 U.S.C. §139 1(b)(2)

becaus e Defendants’conductin th is Districtconstitute s a substantialpartofth e acts and om is s ions

giving ris e to Plaintiffs’claim s . Defendants s etth e ir tortious conspiracy in m otion in th is District

w h en th e y cam e to San Francisco in April2014 to fraudulently gain adm ittance to th e NAF’s

annualm eeting w h e re th ey m etm any ofPlaintiffs’repre s entatives and s etup follow -up m eetings .

16. Plaintiffs h ave suffered s ignificanth arm in th is Districtas a directre sultof
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Defendants’w rongfulconduct. For exam ple, Defendants’publication ofth e illegally and

w rongfully obtained recordings include im age s ofand reference s to Planned Parenth ood clinics in

th is District, expos ing th e s e clinics , th e ir staff, and th e ir patients to unfair and dam aging publicity

th atdis rupted patientcare and re q uired costly m easure s ensure safety and s ecurity atth e clinic.

PlaintiffPLANNED PARENTH O OD NORTH ERN CALIFORNIA, w h ich s e rves patients in th e

San Francisco Bay Area and m uch ofNorth ern California, h as already suffered cons iderable h arm ,

including dam age to its operations , finance s , and ability to deliver patientcare .

INTRADISTRICT ASSIGNMENT

17. As s ignm entto th e San Francisco Divis ion is appropriate becaus e a substantialpart

ofth e events and om is s ions giving ris e to Plaintiffs’claim s occurred in San Francisco County,

w h en Defendants fraudulently gained adm ittance to NAF’s 2014 annualm eeting in San Francisco.

PARTIES

18. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD FEDERATION OF AMERICA,

INC. (“PPFA”) is a not-for-profitcorporation duly organized and validly existing in New York .

PPFA supports 59 independently incorporated affiliate s th atcollectively operate m ore th an 650

h ealth centers th atprovide care to approxim ately 2.5 m illion w om en and m en each year. PPFA’s

m is s ion is to provide com pre h ens ive reproductive h ealth care s ervice s , to provide educational

program s relating to reproductive and s exualh ealth , and to advocate for public policie s to ensure

acce s s to h ealth s ervice s , including safe, legalabortion.

19 . PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD: SHASTA-DIABLO, INC., dba

Planned Parenthood Northern California (“PLANNED PARENTHOOD NORTHERN

CALIFORNIA” or “PPNC”) is a not-for-profitorganization and one ofs even California

Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPNC delivers clinical, educational, and couns eling s e rvice s to

patients at20 h ealth centers in th e San Francisco Bay Area and North ern California. In 2014, th e

affiliate h ad 9 6,683 patients and 189 ,401 totalpatientvis its . PPNC provides prim ary care

s ervice s , as w ellas a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s ervice s , including: contraceptive s ervice s ,

s exually transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent, H IVeducation and te sting, pregnancy

te sting and options , education, em ergency contraceptives and supplie s , and safe, legalabortion.
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20. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD MAR MONTE, INC. (“PPMM”) is

a not-for-profitorganization and one ofs even California Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPM M

delivers clinical, educational, and couns eling s ervice s to patients at34 h ealth centers in parts of

North ern California, th e South ern Bay Area, CentralCalifornia and Nevada. In 2014, th e affiliate

h ad 236,173 patients and 447,549 totalpatientvis its . PPM M provide s prim ary care s e rvice s , as

w ellas a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s e rvice s , including: contraceptive s ervice s , s exually

transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent, H IVeducation and te sting, pregnancy te sting and

options , education, em ergency contraceptives and supplie s , and safe, legalabortion.

21. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF THE PACIFIC SOUTHWEST

(“PPPSW”) is a not-for-profitorganization and one ofs even California Planned Parenth ood

affiliate s . PPPSW delivers clinical, educational, and couns eling s ervice s to patients at10 h ealth

centers in San Diego, Im perial, and Rivers ide countie s . In 2014, th e affiliate h ad 141,318 patients

and 276,648 totalpatientvis its . PPPSW provide s a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s ervice s ,

including: contraceptive s ervice s , s exually transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent,

H IV/AIDS education and te sting, pregnancy te sting and options , education, em ergency

contraceptives , cancer scre ening for cervicaland breastcancer, colposcopy and cryosurgery, tubal

ligation and vas ectom ie s , and safe, legalabortion.

22. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD LOS ANGELES (“PPLA”) is a not-

for-profitorganization and one ofs even California Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPLA delivers

clinical, educational, and couns eling s ervice s to patients at19 h ealth centers in Los Angeles and

surrounding countie s . In 2014, th e affiliate h ad 149 ,387 patients and 273,641 totalpatientvis its .

PPLA provide s som e prim ary care s e rvice s , as w ellas a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s ervice s ,

including: contraceptive s ervice s , s exually transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent, H IV

education and te sting, pregnancy te sting and options , education, em e rgency contraceptives and

supplie s , and safe, legalabortion.

23. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD/ORANGE AND SAN

BERNARDINO COUNTIES, INC. (“PPOSBC”) is a not-for-profitorganization and one of

s even California Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPOSBC delivers clinical, educational, and
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couns eling s ervice s to patients atnine h ealth centers in O range and San Bernardino Countie s . In

2014, th e affiliate h ad 9 5,540 patients and 177,375 totalpatientvis its . PPOSBC provide s prim ary

care s ervice s , as w ellas a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s ervice including: contraceptive

s ervice s , s exually transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent, H IVeducation and te sting,

pregnancy te sting and options , education, em ergency contraceptives and supplie s , and safe, legal

abortion.

24. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD OF SANTA BARBARA,

VENTURA & SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTIES, INC. (“PPSBVSLO”) is a not-for-profit

organization and one ofs even California Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPSBVSLO delivers

clinical, educational, and couns eling s ervice s to patients atfive h ealth centers in Santa Barbara,

Ventura, and San Luis O bispo Countie s . In 2014, th e affiliate h ad 34,258 patients and 67,644 total

patientvis its . PPSBVSLO provide s a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s e rvice s , including:

pregnancy diagnos is and couns eling, contraceptive s ervice s , s exually transm itted dis eas e

scre ening, diagnos is and treatm ent, H IV/AIDS te sting and couns eling, supports ervice s for

pregnantw om en, early pregnancy evaluation and m anagem ent, cancer scre ening for cervicaland

breastcancer, colposcopy and cryosurgery, tuballigation and vas ectom ie s , and safe, legal

abortion.

25. PLAINTIFF PLANNED PARENTHOOD PASADENA AND SAN GABRIEL

VALLEY, INC. (“PPPSGV”) is a not-for-profitorganization and one ofs even California

Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . PPPSGVdelivers clinical, educational, and couns eling s ervice s to

patients atfour h ealth centers in Pasadena and surrounding parts ofLos Angeles County. In 2014,

th e affiliate h ad 27,59 2 patients and 47,261 totalpatientvis its . PPPSGVprovide s prim ary care

s ervice s , as w ellas a fullrange ofreproductive h ealth s ervice s , including: prim ary care s e rvice s ,

contraceptive s ervice s , s exually transm itted dis eas e scre ening and treatm ent, H IVeducation and

te sting, pregnancy te sting and options , education, em ergency contraceptives and safe, legal

abortion.

26. DEFENDANT CENTER FOR MEDICAL PROGRESS (“CMP”) is an entity

th ath olds its elfoutas a ch aritable trustbas ed in Irvine, California. CM Pm ade fals e
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repre s entations to th e public and to m ultiple governm entbodie s , including th e State ofCalifornia

and th e InternalRevenue Service (IRS)to obtain tax exem ptstatus as a “ch aritable organization.”

CM P’s th re e registered officers are DefendantDALEIDEN (CEO ), DefendantRH OM BERG

(CFO), and DefendantNEW M AN (Secretary).

27. DEFENDANT BIOMAX PROCUREMENT SERVICES, LLC (BIOMAX) is a

California Lim ited Liability Com pany h eadq uartered in Norw alk , California. BIO M AX w as

form ed on O ctober 11, 2013, and h eld its elfoutas a legitim ate tis sue procurem entcom pany. In

reality, th e com pany w as and is a s h am com pany th atCM P, DALEIDEN and oth ers form ed to

fraudulently gain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood conference s and m eetings as a core partofth e

sch em e to defraud and dem onize Planned Parenth ood th atis th e subjectofth is law suit.

28. DEFENDANT DAVID DALEIDEN is an individualw h o, on inform ation and

belief, re s ide s in Yolo County, California. H e is a k now n anti-abortion extrem istw ith tie s to th e

discredited anti-abortion group Live Action, for w h ich h e previously s erved as “Director of

Re s earch ”according to publis h ed reports . Us ing th e fak e nam e “RobertDaoud Sark is ,”h e h eld

h im s elfoutas Procurem entM anager and Vice Pre s identofO perations for BIOM AX to

fraudulently gain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood conference s and m eetings , as w ellas oth er private

m eetings and conference s w h ere Planned Parenth ood staffw ould be, and to oth erw is e pe rpetrate

th e w rongdoing th atis th e subjectofth is law suit. According to publis h ed reports , DALEIDEN

h as , over th e laste igh tyears , repeatedly facilitated anti-abortion activists gaining acce s s to

Planned Parenth ood facilitie s under false pretens e s , taping staffand even patients w ith outth e ir

k now ledge, even prior to em bark ing on th e conspiracy th atis th e subjectofth is law suit— th e so-

called H um an CapitalProject. H e is identified as CM P’s Ch iefExecutive O ffice r.

29 . DEFENDANT TROY NEWMAN is an individualw h o, on inform ation and

belief, re s ide s in W ich ita, Kansas . NEW M AN is a dangerous and reck les s extrem istw h o operate s

th e discredited anti-abortion group O peration Re scue and is as sociated w ith Live Action.

O peration Re scue operate s a w ebs ite th atinclude s ph otos and h om e addre s s e s ofabortion doctors

acros s th e nation so th e y gettargeted and h aras s ed. Notonly is NEW M AN th e Secretary ofCM P,

according to publis h ed reports , NEW M AN and O peration Re scue provided “consultation s ervice s
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and m aterialsupport”to DALEIDEN and th e oth e r co-conspirators . NEW M AN h as publicly

stated th ath e “advis ed Daleiden, providing consultation s ervice s and m aterialsupport,”and th at

th e “H um an CapitalProject”w as conducted “in consultation w ith O peration Re scue .”According

to NEW M AN, th e “gene s is”ofth is conspiracy began in h is office in W ich ita. NEW M AN h as

also boasted th ath e rem ains in controlofth e releas e ofCM P’s illegally-obtained recordings , and

th at, “ata tim e ofour ch oos ing, w e w illreleas e m ore dam ning evidence ofth e abortion cartel’s

illegal, gh astly, and repugnantbutch ery.”

30. DEFENDANT ALBIN RHOMBERG is an individualw h o, on inform ation and

belief, re s ide s in or near Sacram ento, California. RH OM BERG is a w ell-k now n anti-abortion

extrem istw h o repeatedly h as h aras s ed and accosted w om en and reproductive h ealth care providers

atPlanned Parenth ood h ealth centers and events . In 19 9 1, h e w as arre sted for dis rupting a

religious s e rvice h eld in h onor ofGovernor Pete W ilson, claim ing itw as “sacrilegious”for a

Cath olic Cath edralto h old a nondenom inationalservice for a pro-ch oice politician. RH OM BERG

is th e Ch iefFinancialO fficer ofCM P, and h as participated in and supported th e illegalactivitie s

ofDALEIDEN and th e oth er co-conspirators .

31. DEFENDANT PHILLIP S. CRONIN is an individualw h o, on inform ation and

belief, re s ide s in or near Ventura County, California. CRONIN w as th e registered agentfor

BIOM AX from O ctober 11, 2013 th rough July 7, 2015. CRONIN participated in th e operations of

BIOM AX, including financing BIOM AX’s illegaland fraudulententry into s ecure abortion

conference s . CRONIN, for exam ple, paid for BIO M AX’s registration to NAF’s 2014 annual

m eeting, h eld in San Francisco, w ith h is personalcreditcard.

32. DEFENDANT SANDRA SUSAN MERRITT is an individualw h o, on

inform ation and belief, re s ide s in or near San Jos e, California. M ERRITTpre s ented h ers elfas

BIOM AX’s purported CEO and as sum ed th e fak e nam e “Susan Tennenbaum ,”going so far as to

procure w h at, on inform ation and belief, is a fak e California driver’s licens e . Sh e s etup a ph ony

Facebook page, w h e re h e r “lik e s”include H illary Clinton, Th e Rach elM addow Sh ow , and Stem

CellRes earch .

33. DEFENDANT GERARDO ADRIAN LOPEZ is an individualw h o, on
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inform ation and belief, re s ide s in or near Long Beach , California. LOPEZ attended m ultiple

PPFA conference s w ith DALEIDEN, and h as repre s ented h im s elfto Plaintiffs and oth ers as

BIOM AX’s “Procurem entTech nician.”

34. UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS W h o Participated in th e Conspiracy to

Defraud. Defendants DALEIDEN, NEW M AN, RH OM BERG, CRONIN, M ERRIT, LOPEZ ,

BIOM AX, and CM Pdid notactalone . O th e r co-conspirators , discus s ed below , as sum ed fak e

nam e s and identitie s or oth erw is e as s isted in th e s ch em e to defraud and h arm Plaintiffs .

35. “Brianna Allen”is th e as sum ed nam e ofth e w om an w h o h as h eld h ers elfoutto

Plaintiffs and oth ers as Susan Tennenbaum ’s as s is tant. A new s reportdocum ented th at“Brianna

Allen”is in factth e nam e ofone ofDALEIDEN’s h igh sch oolclas sm ate s w h o is pro-ch oice, h as

noth ad com m unications w ith DALEIDEN for s everalyears , and h as no connection w ith CM P,

BIOM AX, or any aspectofth e events discus s ed h ere in.

36. “Rebecca W agner”h as repre s ented h ers elfto Plaintiffs and oth ers as a Contract

Adm inistrator for BIOM AX.

37. “Sofia M ireles”us ed h er creditcard to fraudulently register BIOM AX

repre s entatives M ERRITT(pos ing as “Susan Tennenbaum ”)and “Brianna Allen”to attend th e

As sociation ofReproductive H ealth Profe s s ionals Conference in Denver in Septem ber 2013.

38. Alter Egos: Plaintiffs are inform ed and believe and on th atbas is allege th atth ere

exists , and atalltim e s h ere in m entioned th ere existed, a unity ofintere stand ow ners h ip betw e en

Defendants such th atany individuality and s eparatene s s betw e en th e s e Defendants h ave ceas ed.

Defendants e stablis h ed BIOM AX as a fak e com pany for th e purpos e ofperpetrating a fraud on

Plaintiffs and oth er abortion providers . Defendants h ave atalltim e s exercis ed dom inion and

controlover BIOM AX and CM P, and h ave acted w ith totaldis regard for th e s eparate legalstatus

ofBIOM AX and CM P, in order to prom ote th e ir w rongfuland illegalconduct. Adh erence to th e

fiction ofth e s eparate existence ofBIOM AX and CM Pas s eparate entitie s distinctfrom each

oth er, DALEIDEN, NEW M AN, RH OM BERG, CRONIN, M ERRIT, LO PEZ and th e

UNKNOW N CO -CONSPIRATORS, w ould perm itan abus e ofth e corporate privilege and w ould

sanction fraud and prom ote injustice .
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FACTS

Planned Parenthood’s Record Of Providing Safe, High-Quality, Essential Health Care

39 . Approxim ately one outofevery five w om en in th e United State s h as relied on a

Planned Parenth ood h ealth center for care atsom e pointin h er lifetim e . Planned Parenth ood’s

track record for providing safe, h igh -q uality, e s s entialh ealth care to w om en –and particularly,

w om en from low incom e fam ilie s and unders erved areas –is unparalleled.

40. From O ctober 1, 2013 th rough Septem ber 30, 2014 alone, Planned Parenth ood

h ealth centers saw 2.5 m illion patients , w h o collectively rece ived 9 .5 m illion s ervice s , including

th e provis ion ofm ore th an 2.9 m illion birth controlinform ation and s ervice s , m ore th an 270,000

Pap te sts , m ore th an 360,000 breastexam s , and m ore th an 4.2 m illion s exually transm itted

infection te sts and treatm ents , including H IVtests .

41. A substantialm ajority ofPlanned Parenth ood’s patientpopulation is low or m iddle

incom e . Th re e q uarters ofPlanned Parenth ood’s patients (75%)w ith k now n incom e live w ith

incom e s of150 percentofth e federalpoverty levelor les s (th e e q uivalentof$36,375 a year for a

fam ily offour in 2015). M ore th an h alfofPlanned Parenth ood’s h ealth centers are in h ealth -

profe s s ionals h ort, rural, or m edically unders erved areas . In California, approxim ately 9 5% of

Planned Parenth ood patients are low incom e .

42. A sm allnum ber ofPlanned Parenth ood affiliate s h ave offered w om en s e e k ing

abortions th e option ofdonating fetaltis sue for m edicalre s earch . Th e s e Planned Parenth ood

h ealth care providers , w ith th e fullinform ed and s eparately obtained cons entofth e patientw h o

h as ch os en to h ave an abortion, facilitate donation offetaltis sue w h ich re s earch e rs us e to study

and develop potentialtreatm ents for dis eas e s such as cancer, diabete s , birth defects , Park inson’s,

Alzh e im er’s and m ore . Planned Parenth ood affiliate s w h o h ave facilitated fetaltis sue donation

program s h ave done so in fullcom pliance w ith allapplicable federaland state law .

Anti-Abortion Extremists’ Campaign Of Violence, Intimidation, And Harassment Against
Planned Parenthood

43. CM Pand th e individuals as sociated w ith itare th e late stin a long h istory of

extrem ists w h o targetPlanned Parenth ood, its h ealth care providers , and its patients . Th is
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h aras sm entruns th e gam utfrom aggre s s ive pick eting (th rusting false m edicalliterature atclients ,

block ing clinic entrance s , forcing clients to pas s th rough a gauntletofprote stors to acce s s th e

h ealth centers), personalattack s on providers including pick eting th e ir re s idence s and posting th e ir

nam e s and addre s s e s on w ebs ite s , to violence againstclinic and abortion providers . Extrem ists

h ave us ed ch em icals to block w om en’s acce s s to abortion, em ployed butyric acid to vandalize

clinics , and s entanth rax th reatletters to frigh ten clinic staffand dis rupts ervice . Atleaste igh t

doctors w h o provided abortions to w om en h ave been k illed over th e years , and m any m ore h ave

rece ived death and oth er violentth reats .

44. Defendants are veterans ofextrem istanti-abortion groups w ith a deadly h is tory of

th reatening and inciting violence againstabortion clinics and providers . CM P’s Secretary

NEW M AN h as be en th e Pre s identofO peration Re scue s ince 19 9 9 . In 2003, NEW M AN is sued a

pre s s releas e claim ing th atth e m urder ofan abortion doctor, Dr. Joh n Britton, w as “justifiable

defens ive action.” H e and h is organization are tied to th e k illing ofanoth er abortion doctor,

George Tiller. O peration Re scue h aras s ed Dr. Tiller for a decade until2009 , w h en Dr. Tiller w as

m urdered. H is k iller rece ived specific inform ation aboutDr. Tiller’s w h ereabouts from O peration

Re scue, according to publis h ed new s reports . Th e w ords “O p Re scue”w ere found on an envelope

ins ide th e car ofDr. Tiller’s k iller. O peration Re scue m em ber Jam e s Kopp adm itted to th e 19 9 8

m urder ofabortion doctor BarnettSlepian. NEW M AN’s freq uentas sociate and co-auth or, Ch eryl

Sullenger, pleaded guilty to conspiring to blow up an abortion clinic in 19 88 and s erved tw o years

in U.S. federalprison. M s . Sullenger is currently em ployed by O peration Re scue as a s enior

policy advisor.

45. Th e attack s and h aras sm entofm edicalproviders and patients h ave been so s evere

and pers istentth atfederaland state legislature s h ave feltcom pelled to enactlegislation to proh ibit

th e us e offorce or th reats to interfere w ith th os e providing or s e e k ing reproductive h ealth s ervice s

and to protectth e privacy ofreproductive h ealth s e rvice provide rs or patients .

46. Notw ith standing th e s e legislative efforts , anti-abortion activists continue to h aras s

and obstructPlanned Parenth ood h ealth centers nationw ide . In 2013, th e re w ere 264 incidents of

tre spas s ing, 420 incidents ofh ate m ailor h aras s ing calls, and 39 6 incidents ofobstruction
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com m itted againstabortion providers in th e U.S. and Canada.1 A nationw ide survey ofw om en’s

h ealth clinics found th atin 2014, clinics reported h igh er levels oftargeted intim idation ofclinic

staff, as w ellan increas ing num ber ofclinics im pacted by th e s e tactics .2 In California alone in th e

lastfive years th ere w ere 442 s ecurity incidents ath ealth centers reported acros s th e state

including 11 bom b th reats and 37 incidents ofvandalism .

47. Anoth er tactic em ployed by extrem istanti-abortion groups lik e O peration Re scue is

th e “sting operation.”Th e s e stings , w h ich purportto “expos e”som e w rongdoing atPlanned

Parenth ood, h ave cons istently be en debunk ed.

48. O ne such discredited operation involved th e very sam e bogus claim now be ing

peddled by th e s e Defendants –alleged illegalprofitfrom th e sale offetaltis sue . In 2000, Life

Dynam ics , founded by M ark Crutch e r, is sued a reportth atclaim ed th ata Planned Parenth ood

affiliate profited from fetaltis sue sales . Butth e reportw as th orough ly discredited. Life

Dynam ics’k e y w itne s s , a purported w h istleblow er, adm itted under oath th ath e h ad fabricated h is

claim s and been paid m ore th an $20,000 by Life Dynam ics . Th e FBI concluded th atth e clinic h ad

brok en no law s . DefendantDALEIDEN h as explained th ata conversation w ith Crutch er inspired

h im to launch h is sch em e .

49 . NEW M AN, th e founder ofO peration Re scue, also h as a h istory ofm ak ing

surreptitious recordings ofdoctors , and th en publis h ing th os e recordings online . Lastyear,

NEW M AN publis h ed a book on “h ow to do undercover investigations to find th e h idden s ecrets

th e abortion industry w ants no one to k now .” H is book prais e s th os e w h o “h ave no problem

w h atsoever stretch ing th e truth to a godles s enem y w h o is benton de stroying innocentlives –

especially ifitcan be us ed to save babie s .”

50. NEW M AN’s book specifically de scribe s tactics lik e “m ak ing up storie s”and

1 NationalAbortion Federation, NAFViolence and Disruption Statistics: Incidents of Violence &
Disruption Against Abortion Providers in the U.S. & Canada (2014), h ttp://proch oice .org/w p-
content/uploads/violence _ stats .pdf.
2 Fem inistM ajority Foundation, 2014National Clinic Violence Survey (Jan. 2015),
h ttp://w w w .fem inist.org/rrigh ts/pdf/2015NCAPsurvey.pdf.
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conducting “stings .” H e w rite s th atO peration Re scue h as be en conducting such stings “for

years .” H e sugge sts “s end[ing]a team into [a]clinic w ith a h idden video cam era… . Th is re q uire s

a team th atis good atrole-playing, as w ellas specialized video cam eras th atare undetectable

during th e personalinterview . W e h ave us ed cam eras th atlook lik e ballpointpens and sm all‘spy

cam eras’th atcan be h idden in a purs e .”

51. Th e s e “sting”operations , and th e video footage th ey generate are th en posted on

anti-abortion w ebs ite s and circulated on YouTube, Facebook , and oth e r socialm edia. Th e videos

reliably elicitextrem e reactions and lead to furth e r th reats ofviolence . In one exam ple, O peration

Re scue staffm em bers pretended to be patients to m ak e s ecretrecordings ofan abortion provide r

in M aryland. Th e recordings are stillposted on YouTube, yielding com m ents such as “Pleas e

som eone justs h ootth e f***ers !! Th ats th e only w ay th e y stopped tiller.” In anoth er exam ple

from 2013, NEW M AN pretended to be a reporter so th ath e could interview an abortion provider

w h o w as planning on providing abortion care ata Kansas clinic. Even th ough th e provider stated

“I h ad be en h oping notto be m entioned by nam e”becaus e s h e w as scared of“crazy people w ith

guns ,”NEW M AN secretly taped th e conversation and publis h ed itonline, along w ith th e

provider’s nam e .

52. Planned Parenth ood h as be en th e m ain targetofDALEIDEN’s covertvideo-taping

operations over th e years . During h is five -year em ploym entas th e “director ofre s earch ”w ith th e

discredited anti-abortion organization Live Action, th e organization produced and publis h ed

s everals im ilar undercover and m isleadingly edited videos attack ing Planned Parenth ood. In one

such “sting,”Live Action attem pted to infiltrate Planned Parenth ood and atleastth re e oth e r

progre s s ive advocacy groups by s ending a w om an to th e organizations pos ing as an ow ner ofan

abortion clinic, us ing a fak e nam e, pre s enting fak e bus ine s s cards , w ith a fak e w ebs ite for h er

clinic, to as k q ue stions aboutpolicy topics related to abortion. Th e “sting”did notuncover any

w rongdoings atPlanned Parenth ood. O fh is role atth e organization, DALEIDEN boasted th ath e

“h elped constructm ostofth e undercover projects th at[Live Action]did.”

Defendants Hatch Their Scheme To Defraud Planned Parenthood

53. O n inform ation and belief, Defendants DALEIDEN and NEW M AN h atch ed a
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sch em e in 2012 to s ecretly “em bed”DALEIDEN and oth er recruits w ith in th e reproductive h ealth

com m unity and “expos e”Planned Parenth ood as violating th e law . As NEW M AN h as publicly

de scribed:

Th e gene s is h appened th re e years ago in m y office in W ich ita,
Kansas , w h e re w e discus s ed th e factth atw e already k new th at
Planned Parenth ood w as break ing th e law in traffick ing in h um an
organs after th e ir abortions , and so w e decided and s etoutto go
ah ead and expos e th atand create an investigative journalism
organization th atw ould em bed ours elves into th e abortion carteland
to catch th em offscript.

54. As NEW M AN furth er de scribed: “w e began discus s ing allofth e various

tech niq ue s th ath e [DALEIDEN]w ould h ave to us e in order to infiltrate Planned Parenth ood… .

Alternate identitie s h ad to be s etup. Alternate com panie s h ad to be s etup.”

55. NEW M AN, DALEIDEN and th e ir UNKNOW N CO -CONSPIRATORS setup tw o

false entitie s : CM Pand BIOM AX. O n M arch 7, 2013, Defendants form ed CM Pas a California

corporation.

56. In its Articles ofIncorporation –filed w ith th e California Secretary ofState –

Defendants state th atCM Pis a “nonpartisan”organization and th at“no substantialpartofth e

activitie s ofth e Corporation s h allcons istofcarrying on propaganda, or oth erw is e attem pting to

influence legislation.”CM Pm ade s im ilarly false repre s entations in s e e k ing tax-exem ptstatus

w ith th e IRS. In claim ing tax-exem ptstatus , DALEIDEN sw ore under penalty ofperjury th at

CM Pdoe s not“attem ptto influence legislation.” Th is w as false : CM P’s w ebs ite h om e page

advocate s for Congre s s to tak e legislative action to defund Planned Parenth ood. CM Palso falsely

identified its elfas a not-for-profitunder th e IRS’s category for “Dis eas e s , Disorders , M edical

Discipline s : Biom edicine , Bioenginee ring.”Th ere is a differentIRS category th atactually applie s

to anti-abortion groups lik e CM P.

57. CM P’s application for tax exem ptstatus provide s an addre s s of5325 Elk h orn

Blvd., Sacram ento CA –w h ich is noth ing m ore th an a PostalAnnex+ m ailbox rental. Postal

Annex+ advertis e s its rentalm ailboxe s as giving its custom ers a “profe s s ionalappearance”rath er

th an th e appearance ofa “h ere today, gone tom orrow … operation.”

58. O n O ctober 11, 2013, Defendants form ed Biom ax Procurem entService s , LLC, as a
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California corporation purporting to be a “tis sue procurem entcom pany.”Defendants th en

proceeded to develop fictitious m aterials de s igned to dece ive Plaintiffs and oth ers into th ink ing

th atBIOM AX w as a legitim ate com pany th at“provide s tis sue and specim en procurem entfor

academ ic and private bioscience re s earch ers”and h ad a “com m itm ent[]to provide th e h igh e st-

q uality specim ens w ith efficient, profe s s ionalservice to facilitate w orld-ch anging discoverie s .”

Th ey m ade up a fictitious CEO , “Susan Tennenbaum ,”de scribing h er in BIOM AX’s advertis ing

m aterials as a “pas s ionate patientadvocate and entrepreneur w ith a vis ion to bridge th e gap

betw een routine m edicalpractice and cutting edge m edicalre s earch ”and as som eone w ith

experience w ork ing “in surgicaloffice s and patientadvocacy.”“Susan Tennenbaum ”is nota real

person, butw as a role played by M ERRITT. M ERRITTpre s ented a fak e “Susan Tennenbaum ”

California driver’s licens e to Plaintiffs’staffand oth ers on m ultiple occas ions .

59 . In order to gain acce s s to private Planned Parenth ood and NAFconference s , as

w ellas to Planned Parenth ood m eetings and facilitie s , Defendants aggre s s ively and fraudulently

prom oted BIOM AX as a legitim ate tis sue procurem entorganization. O n inform ation and belief,

NEW M AN and DALEIDEN recruited and trained m ore conspirators to pas s th em s elves offas

legitim ate officers and em ployee s ofBIOM AX. DALEIDEN told a Fox New s reporter th at

“[t]h ere w as a lotofintens ive training and preparation th atw entinto preparing th em to actually go

undercover.”Defendants ultim ately recruited atleastfour co-conspirators , som e ofw h om us ed

fak e nam e s , including “Susan Tennenbaum ,”“Brianna Allen,”and “Rebecca W agner.”

60. Th rough outth e cours e ofth is conspiracy, Defendants h ave rece ived supportand

direction from th e anti-abortion group Life LegalDefens e Foundation (“LLDF”). Cath erine Sh ort,

one ofth e founders ofLLDF, s e rved as CM P’s registered agents ince CM P’s inception. O n July

14, 2015, th e day Defendants w entpublic w ith th e ir conspiracy w ith th e posting ofth e first

defam atory video and public statem ent, LLDFis sued a pre s s releas e bragging th atitw as “finally

able to revealits supportofa tw o-year undercover operation,”and took creditfor “h aving be en

w ith th e projectfrom its inception,”and referred to Planned Parenth ood doctors as “contract

k illers .”
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Defendants Fraudulently Gain Access To The 2014 San Francisco NAF Conference

61. Beginning in or aboutSeptem ber 2013, Defendants m oved forw ard w ith th e ir

fraudulentsch em e . M ERRITTand unk now n co-conspirator “Brianna Allen,”pos ing as

repre s entatives ofBIOM AX, registered under ph ony nam e s and attended th e Reproductive H ealth

Profe s s ionals Conference in Denver, Colorado. M ERRITTand h er “colleague”surreptitiously

taped atleastone Planned Parenth ood affiliate staffm em ber from PlaintiffPPPSW . M ERRITT

and unk now n co-conspirator “Brianna Allen”registered for th e conference us ing a creditcard

belonging to “Sofia M ireles .”

62. Sh ortly th ereafter, in Novem ber 2013, Defendants (th rough unk now n co-

conspirator “Brianna Allen”)contacted th e NationalAbortion Foundation (“NAF”)to req ue st

Exh ibitor space atits April2014 annualconference in San Francisco. NAFis a m em bers h ip

organization w h os e m is s ion is to ensure w om en’s acce s s to safe, legalabortion.

63. Th e NAFconference h as be en h eld annually s ince 19 77, and provide s uniq ue

opportunitie s for abortion and oth er reproductive h ealth care providers to m eet, learn aboutth e

late stre s earch , and to netw ork w ith outfear ofh aras sm ent, intim idation, and violence . Com panie s

th atapply to exh ibitatNAF’s annualm eetings include h ealth care productm anufacturers , s e rvice

providers , and reproductive righ ts advocate s . Attendee s include clinicians , facility adm inistrators ,

couns elors , re s earch ers , e ducators , and th ough tleaders in th e pro-ch oice field, w h o h ave long-

standing com m itm ents to h ealth care , w om en’s righ ts , and reproductive ch oice . Stafffrom PPFA

and Planned Parenth ood affiliate s regularly attend th e NAFannualconference s .

64. Given th e h orrific h istory ofviolence and intim idation perpetrated by anti-abortion

extrem ists againstabortion providers , NAFh as developed extraordinary s ecurity m easure s for its

conference s , including:

 NAF’s full-tim e s ecurity staffare involved in th e s election proce s s for h otels in order to

ensure th atconference s ite s m e etstricts ecurity guideline s .

 NAFstaffm eetw ith h otelm anagem ent, h otelsecurity, locallaw enforcem ent, FBI and/or

ATFagents , and fire/re scue personnelto discus s s ecurity is sue s potentialth reats , and th e

s ecurity needs ofNAFm em bers .
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 NAFprovide s on-s ite s ecurity team s atits conference, and conducts stricts ecurity ch eck s

ofidentification badge s to ensure th atno unauth orized individuals gain acce s s to

conference events .

 NAFh as stricts ecurity re q uirem ents de s igned to ensure th atth e date s and locations of

th e ir m eetings rem ain private .

 NAFreq uire s attendee s to s h ow ph oto identification before gaining acce s s to th e annual

conference .

 NAFreq uire s allattende e s and exh ibitors to s ign strictconfidentiality agre em ents .

Exh ibitors m usts ign w ritten agre em ents repre s enting th atth e y are legitim ate organizations

w ith goals th atare cons is tentw ith th os e ofNAF, and prom is ing to h old any inform ation

rece ived atth e m e eting in confidence .

 NAFreq uire s allattende e s to s ign a non-disclosure agre em entth atproh ibits m ak ing video,

audio, ph otograph ic, or oth er recordings ofth e m e etings or discus s ions atth e conference .

65. DALEIDEN, M ERRITT, and an UNKNOW N CO -CONSPIRATOR lied th e ir w ay

into th e NAFconference in San Francisco, w h ich w as h eld from April5 to April8, 2014. Th e y

attended as Exh ibitors , pos ing as BIOM AX repre s entatives “Susan Tennenbaum ,”CEO (i.e.,

M ERRITT), “Brianna Allen,”Tennenbaum ’s as s istant, and “RobertSark is ,”Vice Pre s identfor

O perations (i.e., DALEIDEN). Th e y k now ingly entered into NAF’s confidentiality and non-

disclosure agreem ents , de scribed above, w ith outany intention to com ply w ith th os e agreem ents

and, on inform ation and belief, took surreptitious video and audio recordings ofconference

attendee s w ith outth e ir k now ledge or cons ent.

66. O n inform ation and belief, Defendants intended to –and did –exploitth e ir

fraudulently obtained acce s s to th e NAFconference to develop “profe s s ional”relations h ips and

s ecure connections for future efforts to infiltrate Planned Parenth ood. Defendants aggre s s ively

and specifically targeted m ultiple Planned Parenth ood doctors , from California and elsew h ere ,

fraudulently prom oting th em s elves as legitim ate attendee s . For exam ple, Defendants aggre s s ively

pursued PPFA Senior Director ofM edicalRes earch , Dr. Deborah Nucatola, forging on false

pretens e s a relations h ip th atth ey w ould later leverage to s ecure additionalm eetings w ith h e r and
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oth er Planned Parenth ood staffm em bers .

67. Dr. Nucatola and oth er Planned Parenth ood stafftrusted th e Defendants’

repre s entations aboutw h o th ey w ere bas ed upon th e ir pre s ence atth e NAFconference . Planned

Parenth ood reasonably relied on NAF’s extens ive scre ening and s ecurity m easure s de s igned to

ensure th atallconference participants w ere legitim ate and w ere attending th e conference s to

enh ance th e q uality and safety ofreproductive h ealth care s e rvice s . Bas ed upon NAF’s scre ening

and s ecurity m easure s alleged h ere in, Plaintiffs’staffh ad a reasonable expectation th atth e

profe s s ionalconversations th ey engaged in during th e conference w ere confidential, private and

notbe ing listened to or recorded by anti-abortion activists .

68. Defendants aggre s s ively pursued Planned Parenth ood staffatth e NAFconference,

engaged th em in conversations on false pretens e s , and s ecretly film ed Plaintiffs’staffand oth ers .

Defendants tried to baitPlanned Parenth ood staffw ith proposals th atw ere illegaland

inappropriate . In one cas e , DALEIDEN as k ed a Planned Parenth ood staffperson “Can w e give

you $2,000 for fetaltis sue donations?”Th e staffm em ber told DALEIDEN th ath e w as be h aving

inappropriately.

69 . O n inform ation and belief, Defendants obtained confidentialdocum ents and m edia

from NAF. Th is include s a th um b drive th atw as provided to attendee s atth e annualm eeting.

Th e th um b drive contained confidentialelectronic docum ents and oth er m aterials, including th os e

related to pre s entations th atw ere given atNAF’s annualm eeting (e.g., slide s h ow s , videos , and

pre s entation softw are). Th e th um b drive also contained an extens ive listofNAFfaculty,

including Planned Parenth ood staff, as w ellas faculty biograph ie s . Th is m aterialw as not

available to th e public, and itcontained h igh ly s ens itive inform ation.

70. Defendants h ave bragged aboutth e ir efforts to surreptitiously record th e ir Planned

Parenth ood targets . W h en as k ed by a Fox New s reporter h ow h e cam e up w ith th e tech nology,

NEW M AN noted h ow s im ple itw as to getth e e q uipm entth ey ne eded: “It’s as s im ple as a

Google s earch and a creditcard.”

71. Any recordings th atDefendants m ade and th e inform ation th atth ey obtained during

th e San Francisco NAFconference s are am ong th e m aterials subjectto th e Tem porary Re straining
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O rder in NAFv. The Center for Medical Progress,et al. (8/3/15 O rder, Dock etNo. 27, N.D. Cal.

Cas e No. 3:15-cv-03522-W H O ).

Defendants Target Dr. Nucatola

72. After th e San Francisco NAFconference, Defendants parlayed th e “profe s s ional”

relations h ips th ey forged atth e h igh ly s ecure NAFconference to targetPlanned Parenth ood staff.

Us ing false pretens e s , th e ir firstm ove w as to leverage th e ir status as a NAFexh ibitor to arrange a

m eeting w ith Dr. Nucatola to discus s th e ir “tis sue procurem entcom pany.” Dr. Nucatola trusted

th atDALEIDEN and h is coh orts w ere legitim ate bas ed on th e ir attendance atth e NAFconference .

Sh e reasonably relied on NAF’s extens ive s ecurity m easure s to ensure th atconference attende e s

w ere com m itted to enh ancing th e q uality and safety ofreproductive h ealth care s ervice s , not to

viciously attack Planned Parenth ood and oth ers . Sh e w ould never h ave agreed to m eetw ith or

speak w ith Defendants ifs h e h ad k now n w h o th e y w ere .

73. O n July 25, 2014, Dr. Nucatola m etw ith DALEIDEN (pos ing as “RobertSark is”)

and M ERRITT(pos ing as BIOM AX’s CEO “Susan Tennenbaum ”). Dr. Nucatola intended for th e

m eeting, w h ich occurred ata South ern California re staurant, to be a confidentialcom m unication.

Sh e intended th atth e com m unications be confined to only th e partie s to th e m e eting and

reasonably believed th atth e com m unications w ere so confined. Dr. Nucatola intentionally

arranged for th e ir m e eting to occur in a private booth ins ide th e re staurant. Dr. Nucatola satw ith

h er back to th e corner w allofth e re staurant, a pos ition th atenabled h er to be able to obs erve th e

pre s ence ofoth e rs . Th e m us ic and am bientnois e in th e re staurantw ere very loud and Dr.

Nucatola h eld th e reasonable beliefth atno oth e r individuals in th e re staurantw ere in a pos ition to

overh ear or oth e rw is e obs erve th e ir conversation. Th e subjectm atter ofth e com m unications

involved disclosure ofPlaintiffs’internaloperations , w h ich by th e ir nature are confidentialand

proprietary. Defendants noneth eles s surreptitiously and illegally recorded th e conversation

w ith outDr. Nucatola’s k now ledge or cons ent, later posting a deceptive and h eavily m anipulated

cut-and-splice vers ion ofth e recording in th e ir firstonline video, discus s ed below .

Defendants Lie Their Way Into PPFA’s Private Conferences

74. After s ecretly recording Dr. Nucatola, Defendants continued to exploitth e ir
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contacts from th e h igh ly s ecure NAFconference to gain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood staff.

75. PPFA organize s and convene s regular conference s to give its affiliate s , staff, and

volunteers th e opportunity to gath e r togeth er, to s h are developm ents in s everalfields ofh ealth

care, to discus s be stpractice s , and to supportth e dedicated h ealth care profe s s ionals w h o provide

e s s entialservice s to so m any patients nationw ide .

76. M aintaining a safe and s ecure space for such events is ofcriticalim portance . Th us ,

PPFA tak e s s ignificantsteps to ensure th atth e s e conference s and related events are lim ited to

h ealth care providers and oth er profe s s ionals com m itted to providing h igh -q uality reproductive

h ealth care .

77. Th rough fraudulentrepre s entations , Defendants infiltrated th re e m ajor PPFA

conference s . Ateach conference, Defendants pos ed as repre s entatives ofBIOM AX, th e s h am

tis sue procurem entcom pany, in order to gain acce s s as “Exh ibitors .”Th ey did so as partofth e ir

sch em e to exploitth e trustofw ell-intentioned, h igh ly profe s s ionalattende e s , to surreptitiously

record private pre s entations and m eetings , to e stablis h relations h ips w ith Planned Parenth ood staff

and ultim ately to produce a sm ear cam paign againstPlanned Parenth ood.

Defendants Lie Their Way Into The North American Forum On Family Planning (Miami),
October 2014

78. O n or aboutSeptem ber 16, 2014, Defendants registered th em s elves as Exh ibitors

for th e PPFA North Am erican Forum on Fam ily Planning (th e “Forum ”). Th e Forum , w h ich w as

h eld in M iam i from O ctober 12 to O ctober 14, 2014, is a m ajor scientific and educational

conference for m edicaland socialscientists , clinicalproviders , and staff. Planned Parenth ood

im pos ed s everalsecurity m easure s to protectth e s afety and privacy ofconference participants .

Planned Parenth ood re q uired allattende e s , including Exh ibitors , to s h ow valid identification w h en

registering atth e conference and to w ear specialbadge s de s igned to identify attendee s w h o w ere

pre s entfor reasons cons istentw ith Planned Parenth ood’s m is s ion. In addition, Planned

Parenth ood lim ited distribution ofth e Forum ’s program inform ation to conference attendee s to

protectth e s ecurity ofproviders and faculty atth e conference .

79 . To attend th e Forum , Exh ibitors w ere re q uired to agree to specific Term s and
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Conditions . Planned Parenth ood explicitly conditioned any Exh ibitor’s participation on agreem ent

to Term s and Conditions th atincluded:

 “Th e purpos e ofPPFA’s sponsors h ip program is to furth er th e education ofth e registrants .

Th e exh ibits and sponsored m eetings m ustbe educationaland inform ative, em ph as izing

inform ation aboutproducts and s ervice s us efulto th e registrants’practice and beneficialto

th e intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients .”

 Any “Exh ibitor”attending th e conference h ad to “agree … to com ply w ith allapplicable

federal, state and locallaw s and regulations in perform ance ofits re spective obligations

pursuantto th is Agreem ent, including, w ith outlim itation, law s related to fraud, abus e ,

privacy … [and]confidentiality.”

80. DALEIDEN (pos ing as “RobertSark is”)and h is co-conspirator LOPEZ registered

as Exh ibitors for th e Forum . Defendants electronically confirm ed th atth ey h ad read th e Exh ibitor

Term s and Conditions , th atth ey understood th em , and th atth e y w ere in com pliance w ith th em .

Defendants h ad no intention ofcom plying w ith th e agre em ent’s provis ions , and th e y k now ingly

breach ed th e Term s and Conditions .

81. For s ecurity and oth er reasons , PPFA req uire s th atexh ibitors atth e Forum be

k now n to PPFA. Defendants w ould noth ave been adm itted as exh ibitors butfor th e ir prior

fraudulently-obtained attendance atth e 2014 NAFconference and th e contacts w ith PPFA staff

th atth ey h ad be en able to m ak e atth e NAFconference by falsely repre s enting th e ir identitie s and

purpos e .

82. Defendants pre s ented th em s elves atregistration as repre s entatives ofBIOM AX.

DALEIDEN –w h o identified h im s elfas “RobertSark is”–pre s ented a fak e California drivers’

licens e to Planned Parenth ood’s registration personnelto gain acce s s to th is and oth er PPFA

conference s :



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

23
CO M PLAINTFO R DAM AGES AND FO R DECLARATO RY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

83. Th is identification is ph ony. O n inform ation and belief, Defendants produced or

caus ed to be produced th is ph ony identification docum entand oth er s im ilarly ph ony identification

docum ents us ed by th e ir co-conspirators , lik e M ERRITT(pos ing as “Susan Tennenbaum ”), to

gain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood m eetings and private space s :

84. H aving fraudulently gained acce s s to th e Forum , DALEIDEN, LOPEZ , and

M ERRITTprovided fraudulentadvertis ing m aterials aboutth e s h am BIO M AX com pany atth e

conference . Defendants created and distributed ph ony bus ine s s cards , s h ow n h ere , atth e Forum ,

as th ey did atoth er Planned Parenth ood conference s and m eetings :



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

24
CO M PLAINTFO R DAM AGES AND FO R DECLARATO RY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

85. Lik ew is e , on inform ation and belief, Defendants pre s ented and dis s em inated

advertis ing m aterials th atw ere ph ony and de s igned to dece ive Plaintiffs’staffand oth er

reproductive h ealth care profe s s ionals atth e PPFA conference s . An excerptfrom BIOM AX’s

fak e advertis ing m aterialis s h ow n below :

86. Defendants’broch ure s contained th e follow ing statem ent: “BioM ax Procurem ent

Service s , LLC is a biologicalspecim en procurem entorganization h eadq uartered in Norw alk , CA.

BioM ax provide s tis sue and specim en procurem entfor academ ic and private bioscience
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re s earch e rs . O ur com m itm entis to provide th e h igh e st-q uality specim ens w ith efficient,

profe s s ionalservice to facilitate w orld-ch anging discoverie s .”Th is statem ent–w h ich also

appeared on BIOM AX’s fak e w ebs ite untilitw as lock ed –is a com plete false h ood.

87. Defendants aggre s s ively pursued Planned Parenth ood doctors atth e Forum ,

including doctors em ployed by Plaintiffs , to develop “profe s s ional”contacts . O n inform ation and

belief, Defendants also surreptitiously and illegally recorded private conversations w ith attendee s

w h o reasonably expected th e ir com m unications atth e conference s to be private and k ept

confidential. Defendants , pos ing as repre s entative s ofa purportedly legitim ate bus ine s s ,

repeatedly approach ed Planned Parenth ood staffaboutfetaltis sue donation, s e e k ing to elicit

statem ents th ey could us e outofcontextor oth erw is e m anipulate in th e sm ear cam paign videos

Defendants later w ould releas e .

88. Defendants leveraged th e ir fraudulently obtained attendance atth e Forum to exploit

th e trustofconference attendee s and to s ecure additionalm eetings also on false pretens e s . For

exam ple, justdays after th e Forum , DALEIDEN –pos ing as “RobertDaoud Sark is , Procurem ent

M anager/VPOperations”for BioM ax Procurem entService s , LLC –contacted doctors from th e

Planned Parenth ood affiliate s in Arizona and California, repre s enting th atDr. Nucatola h ad

advis ed th ath e reach outto th em .

89 . In an em ailin w h ich h e cc’d “our founder & CEO , Susan Tennenbaum ,”Defendant

DALEIDEN attach ed th e ph ony BIOM AX broch ure de scribing th e com pany as a “biological

specim en procurem entorganization”th at“provide s tis sue and specim en procurem entfor

academ ic and private bioscience re s earch ers”and w h os e “com m itm entis to provide th e h igh e st-

q uality specim ens w ith efficient, profe s s ionalservice to facilitate w orld-ch anging discoverie s .”

DALEIDEN also attach ed a ph ony “W elcom e Letter”from “Susan Tennenbaum ”and req ue sted

various specim ens , including “intactliver.”

9 0. Every w ord ofDALEIDEN’s corre spondence w as a lie . ButPlaintiffs’and oth er

affiliate s’staffreasonably trusted registered Planned Parenth ood conference exh ibitors lik e

“RobertSark is ,”w h o h ad agreed to Planned Parenth ood’s Term s and Conditions providing th at

th ey w ere atth e conference to provide “products and s ervice s us efulto th e registrants’practice
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and beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients .”

9 1. Alth ough Planned Parenth ood Arizona doe s notfacilitate fetaltis sue donation, th e

Arizona ph ys icians re sponded profe s s ionally and courteously to “RobertSark is .”Th e y agre ed to

discus s a potentialprofe s s ionalpartners h ip th atw ould prom ote m edicalscience . Lik e allof

Plaintiffs’staffw h o h ave been victim s ofDefendants’m alicious and illegalconduct, th e y never

engaged in –or agre ed to engage in –any unlaw fulor im proper activity.

Defendants Target Planned Parenthood Health Care Professional Dr. Gatter

9 2. In th e m onth s after th e NAFand PPFA conference s de scribed above, Defendants

also began pursuing Dr. M ary Gatter, th e M edicalDirector ofCalifornia Planned Parenth ood

affiliate PPPSGV. DALEIDEN (w h o again falsely identified h im s elfas “RobertDaoud Sark is”)

and M ERRITT(w h o again falsely identified h ers elfas BIO M AX CEO “Susan Tennenbaum ”)

req ue sted a m eeting in corre spondence to Dr. Gatter follow ing up on connections m ade during th e

NAFand PPFA conference s . DALEIDEN expre s s ed an intere stin discus s ing PPPSGV’s

operations and a pos s ible partners h ip for fetaltis sue donations . Defendants s entnum erous em ails

to Dr. Gatter, providing com pletely false com pany inform ation and a ph ony draftcontract.

9 3. Dr. Gatter and a PPPSGVcolleague, w h o also m etw ith Defendants , reasonably

trusted th e repre s entations m ade by Defendants aboutw h o th ey w ere bas ed upon th e ir purportedly

legitim ate pre s ence atth e conference s . Th e y relied on th e extens ive scre ening and s ecurity

m easure s ofNAFand Planned Parenth ood to ensure th atallconference participants w ere

legitim ate and w ere attending th e conference s to enh ance th e q uality and safety ofreproductive

h ealth care s ervice s .

9 4. O n February 6, 2015, DALEIDEN and M ERRITTm etw ith Dr. Gatter and h er

colleague ata Pasadena re staurant. Dr. Gatter and h er colleague intended for th e m e eting to be a

strictly confidentialcom m unication. Th ey intended th e ir com m unications to be confined to only

th e partie s to th e m e eting and reasonably believed th atth e com m unications w ere so confined, for

reasons th atinclude : (a)th ere w e re no oth e r patrons in th e re staurantduring th e m e eting;(b)th e

group w as s eated atth e back ofth e re staurant;(c)Dr. Gatter and h er colleague stopped th e ir

conversation w h enever th e re staurant’s w aitstaffapproach ed and th e y did notspeak in loud
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voice s;(d)Dr. Gatter stated atone pointin th e conversation, w h en a w aiter approach ed, th ats h e

w anted to be “discre et”;and (e)Dr. Gatter noted th e loud m us ic playing in th e back ground, w h ich

w ould h ave m ade itim pos s ible for any oth er patrons , h ad th ere be en any, to overh ear th e

conversation. Th e subjectm atter ofth e com m unications involved disclosure ofPlaintiff

PPPSGV’s internaloperations , w h ich by th e ir nature are confidentialand proprietary. Defendants

noneth eles s surreptitiously and illegally recorded th e conversation w ith outDr. Gatter’s or h e r

colleague’s k now ledge or cons ent, later posting a deceptive and h eavily m anipulated cut-and-

splice vers ion ofth e recording, discus s ed below .

Defendants Fraudulently Gain Access To PPFA’s Medical Directors’ Council (MeDC)
Conference (Orlando), February-March 2015

9 5. M eanw h ile, Defendants continued to actively s e e k acce s s to additionalprivate

PPFA conference s , furth er expanding th e ir fraudulentsch em e . O n February 6, 2015, th e sam e day

as th e m eeting w ith Dr. Gatter, Defendants registered for th e PPFA M eDC Conference, to be h eld

in O rlando, Florida from February 25 to M arch 2, 2015. Th e y registered as Exh ibitors and as

attendee s atth e event’s reception and group dinner, w h ich w e re firm ly re stricted to registered

conference participants .

9 6. PPFA req uired Exh ibitors to agree to specific Term s and Conditions in order to

attend th e M eDC conference, including th e follow ing provis ions :

 “Th e purpos e ofM eDC’s sponsors h ip program is to furth er th e education ofth e

registrants . Th e exh ibits and sponsored m e etings m ustbe educationaland inform ative,

em ph as izing inform ation aboutproducts and s e rvice s us efulto th e registrants’practice and

beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients .”

 “Exh ibitor … agre e [s]… to com ply w ith allapplicable federal, state and locallaw s and

regulations in perform ance ofits re spective obligations pursuantto th is Agreem ent,

including, w ith outlim itation, law s related to fraud, abus e , privacy … [and]

confidentiality.”

9 7. Th e Term s and Conditions furth er stated th atExh ibitors and oth er conference

attendee s w ere re q uired to s h ow identification w h en registering atth e conference and to w ear
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specialbadge s atalltim e s . Such badge s w e re nece s sary for adm ittance to conference s e s s ions ,

and w ere us ed by attende e s to identify oth e r attendee s w h o h ad registered and w ere purportedly

pre s entfor reasons cons istentw ith PPFA’s m is s ion.

9 8. Defendants , purporting to attend as repre s entative s ofBIOM AX, com pleted th e

Exh ibitor registration for DALEIDEN (pos ing as “RobertSark is”)and h is co-conspirator LOPEZ .

Th ey electronically agreed to th e Exh ibitor Term s and Conditions . O nce again, th ey h ad no

intention ofcom plying w ith th e s e Term s and Conditions and violated th em repeatedly and w ith

m alicious intent.

9 9 . H aving fraudulently gained acce s s to th e M eDC conference, Defendants

aggre s s ively pursued Planned Parenth ood doctors , again to develop “profe s s ional”contacts th at

could be leveraged in to future m eetings atPPFA affiliate h eath care centers . O n inform ation and

belief, Defendants surreptitiously and illegally recorded private conversations w ith outoth er

attendee s’k now ledge or cons entand baited conference participants in h ope s ofs ecuring s ecretly

taped statem ents w h os e m eaning could be tw isted to supportDefendants’sm ear cam paign.

100. O n inform ation and belief, Defendants attem pted to force th e ir w ay into s e s s ions

th atExh ibitors w ere notperm itted to attend. Defendants w ere succe s sfulin infiltrating atleastone

conference s e s s ion th atExh ibitors w ere proh ibited from attending.

101. Im m ediately follow ing th e conference, Defendants em ailed a PPOSBC doctor w ith

th e sam e fraudulentBIO M AX broch ure and introduction letter th e y h ad previously s entto oth er

Planned Parenth ood staffs e e k ing a private m eeting under th e sam e false pretens e s .

Defendants Infiltrate The Third PPFA Conference: The PPFA National Conference
(Washington D.C.), March 2015

102. Defendants infiltrated a th ird Planned Parenth ood conference, th e PPFA National

Conference in W as h ington, D.C., w h ich w as h eld from M arch 16 to M arch 20, 2015. As w ith th e

oth er Planned Parenth ood conference s , in order to attend th e PPFA NationalConference,

Exh ibitors w ere re q uired to agree to specific Term s and Conditions , including th e follow ing

provis ions :

 “PPFA re s e rve s th e righ tto aw ard exh ibitspace only to th os e Exh ibitors w h os e exh ibits
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w illbestm eetth e needs ofconference participants . PPFA m ay exclude sponsors and/or

sponsors h ip m aterials th atitdeem s incons istentw ith PPFA policie s or for any oth er reason

PPFA deem s in its be stintere sts .”

 “Exh ibitor … agre e [s]… to com ply w ith allapplicable federal, state and locallaw s and

regulations in perform ance ofits re spective obligations pursuantto th is Agreem ent,

including, w ith outlim itation, law s related to fraud, abus e , privacy … [and]

confidentiality.”

103. O n or aboutFebruary 17, 2015, Defendants registe red for th e PPFA National

Conference and electronically confirm ed th atth ey h ad read th e Exh ibitor Term s and Conditions ,

th atth ey understood th em , and th atth ey w ere in com pliance w ith th em . Th ey also registered to

attend th e conference’s m ajor fundrais ing dinner event. In th e registration, Defendants

fraudulently repre s ented th em s elves and BIOM AX as follow s : “BioM ax Procurem entService s ,

LLC is a biologicalspecim en procurem entorganization h eadq uartered in Long Beach , CA.

BioM ax provide s tis sue and specim en procurem entfor academ ic and private bioscience

re s earch e rs . O ur com m itm entis to provide th e h igh e st-q uality specim ens w ith efficient,

profe s s ionalservice to facilitate w orld-ch anging discoverie s .” None ofth e s e repre s entations are

rem otely true .

104. AllExh ibitors and oth er conference attende e s w e re re q uired to s h ow identification

w h en registering and to w ear specialbadge s atalltim e s . Such badge s w ere nece s sary for

adm ittance to certain conference s e s s ions , and w ere us ed by attende e s to identify oth e r attendee s

w h o h ad registe red and purportedly w ere pre s entfor reasons cons istentw ith PPFA’s m is s ion.

O nly Exh ibitors w h o registered, agreed to th e conference Term s and Conditions , and obtained an

officialPPFA conference badge w ere pe rm itted ins ide th e conference’s exh ibith all.

105. H aving fraudulently gained acce s s to th e PPFA NationalConference, Defendants

follow ed th e sam e scriptth ey us ed atth e Forum in M iam i and th e M eDC conference in O rlando,

h ounding Planned Parenth ood doctors and, on inform ation and belief, surreptitiously and illegally

recording private conversations w ith outth e attendee s’k now ledge or cons ent, s e e k ing to elicit

statem ents th atcould be m isleadingly edited as partofth e ir sm ear cam paign.
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Defendants Target A Planned Parenthood Health Center In Colorado

106. Defendants nexttargeted th e staffofPPFA affiliate Planned Parenth ood Rock y

M ountain (“PPRM ”). O n April7, 2015, Defendants fraudulently gained entrance into a Planned

Parenth ood conference room in a s ecure w ing ofits Denver adm inistrative office s . Defendants

subs e q uently gained entrance into th e s ecure patienttreatm entand laboratory areas ofPPRM ’s co-

located h ealth center, as w ellas its m edicalre s earch program office . O n inform ation and belief,

DALEIDEN and M ERRITTarranged a m eeting w ith staffby pos ing as BIOM AX repre s entatives

s e e k ing partners h ip opportunitie s for fetaltis sue donations . Th ey h ad m ade contactw ith a PPRM

ph ys ician th rough th e ir fraudulently obtained acce s s to th e NAFand Planned Parenth ood

conference s discus s ed above.

107. A PPRM ph ys ician agre ed to m eetw ith Defendants to discus s th e fetaltis sue

donation for m edicalre s earch s h e understood th e y w ould be propos ing. Sh e understood th e April

7, 2015 m eeting, in a private conference room and clinicalspace, to be a m eeting w ith

repre s entatives from a legitim ate com pany th atfacilitated legalfetaltis sue donations . PPRM staff

w ould never h ave perm itted DALEIDEN and M ERRITTinto th e s ecure , non-public areas ofth e ir

facility ifDefendants h ad notfraudulently repre s ented th em s elves . Furth erm ore, PPRM staff

intended th e ir com m unications to be confined to only th e partie s to th e m eeting and reasonably

believed th atth e com m unications w ere so confined. Th e subjectm atter ofth e com m unications

involved disclosure ofPPRM ’s internaloperations , w h ich by th e ir nature are confidentialand

proprietary. Significantportions ofth e conversations occurred ins ide a private conference room

and th e private clinicalspace atth e PPRM facility. Defendants surreptitiously recorded th e

conversations , w ith outcons ent.

Defendants Target A Planned Parenthood Heath Center In Texas

108. O n April9 , 2015, justtw o days after fraudulently obtaining acce s s to PPRM ’s

private and s ecure facility in Colorado, Defendants took th e ir conspiratorialexpedition to a

Planned Parenth ood h ealth center in Texas . Th ere th ey us ed fraudulentm eans to infiltrate th e

private office and clinicalspace ata H ouston h ealth center operated by Planned Parenth ood Gulf

Coast(“PPGC”).
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109 . Bas ed on pastand currentth reats atth e facility, PPGC h as im plem ented extens ive

s ecurity protocols to ensure th e safety and privacy ofits patients and staff. For exam ple, PPGC

posts s ecurity officers atth e clinic’s entrance and req uire s allvis itors to pas s th rough a m etal

detector before entering th e facility.

110. Cons istentw ith its regular s ecurity protocols, PPGC req uired DALEIDEN and

M ERRITTto provide valid governm entidentification to enter th e clinic. DALEIDEN provided a

fak e California driver’s licens e in w h ich h e is falsely identified as “RobertSark is ,”and M ERRITT

provided a fak e California driver’s licens e in w h ich s h e is falsely identified “Susan Tennenbaum .”

PPGC scanned and copied th e s e licens e s , ch eck ing th e nam e s againsta databas e ofk now n anti-

abortion extrem ists and h aras s e rs . Defendants’us e of false identitie s ensured th atth e databas e

w ould notidentify th em as th e fraudsters th e y are . In fact, h ad DALEIDEN and M ERRITT

h one stly identified th em s elves , PPGC lik ely w ould h ave identified th em as k now n anti-abortion

activists and tak en steps to stop Defendants’fraudulentand defam atory cam paign.

111. PPGC also req uired th e s e pretend BIOM AX repre s entatives to s ign a strictNon-

Disclosure and Confidentiality Agre em ent(“NDA”)as a precondition for Defendants’entrance

into th e clinic and private m eeting w ith staff. Under th e NDA, Defendants agreed th at“all

inform ation disclos ed by PPGC “sh allbe deem ed confidential”oth e r th an certain narrow carve -

outs such as inform ation in th e public dom ain. Defendants s igned th e agre em ent, w h ich provide s :

2. … “ConfidentialInform ation”s h allbe deem ed to include (i)allw ritten
inform ation ofth e Disclos ing Party [i.e . PPGC], and (ii)alloralinform ation ofth e
Disclos ing Party, w h ich in e ith er cas e is identified atth e tim e ofdisclosure as be ing
ofa confidentialor proprietary nature or is reasonably understood by th e Recipient
to be confidentialunder th e circum stance s ofth e disclosure .

3. Recipients h allm aintain th e Disclos ing Party’s ConfidentialInform ation strictly
confidential, s h allnotus e th e ConfidentialInform ation for any purpos e oth er th an
to evaluate, negotiate and consum m ate th e Transaction and s h allnotdisclose to any
th ird party or us e any ConfidentialInform ation for any oth er purpos e follow ing th e
date ofdisclosure ofsuch ConfidentialInform ation … .

4. Recipientw illnotcopy any ConfidentialInform ation ofth e Disclos ing Party,
exceptas auth orized in w riting by th e Disclos ing Party, and s h allprotectany such
auth orized copie s in accordance w ith th is Agreem ent.

112. After s igning th e NDA, DALEIDEN, pos ing as “RobertSark is ,”and M ERRITT,

pos ing as BIOM AX CEO “Susan Tennenbaum ,”m etw ith PPGC staff. Th e s e staffunderstood th e
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m eeting, in th e private m edicaloffice and clinicalspace, to be w ith a legitim ate com pany th at

facilitated legalfetaltis sue donations , and intended th e m e eting to be a confidential

com m unication.

113. PPGC’s staffintended th e ir com m unications to be confined to th e partie s to th e

m eeting and reasonably believed th atth e com m unications w ere so confined. Th e subjectm atter of

th e com m unications involved disclosure ofPPGC’s internaloperations , w h ich by th e ir nature are

confidentialand proprietary and fits q uarely w ith in th e NDA th atDefendants voluntarily s igned.

PPGC staffperm itted Defendants into th e private facility to discus s a pos s ible profe s s ional

relations h ip, notso th atDefendants could s ecretly record th e conversations us ing h idden cam eras .

Butyetagain, Defendants surreptitiously recorded th e conversations w ith out PPGC staff’s

k now ledge or cons ent.

114. Defendants violated th e NDA w h en, in August2015, th ey posted a video recording

th ey h ad s ecretly recorded atth e ir m e eting atPPGC.

Defendants Gain Admission to the 2015 Baltimore NAF Conference By Fraudulent
Representations

115. Defendants also fraudulently infiltrated NAF’s 2015 annualm eeting in Baltim ore,

M aryland, w h ich w as h eld from April18-21, 2015. Th e ir fraudulently obtained acce s s to th is

m e eting w as m onth s in th e m ak ing. O n Septem ber 23, 2014, DALEIDEN –us ing h is fak e nam e

“Sark is”and, on inform ation and belief, falsely claim ing to h ave an M .S. in BiologicalScience –

subm itted a proposalonline to NAFth atBIOM AX w ould conducta paneldiscus s ion on

“providing fetaltis sue for m edicalre s earch ,”going so far as to propos e th atDr. Nucatola, th e very

ph ys ician h e h ad lied to and s ecretly recorded, be on th e panel. DALEIDEN’s “propos ed panel

discus s ion”concerned “h ow providers can integrate tis sue donation s ervice s into th e ir clinical

practice to contribute to m edicalre s earch and augm entpatientch oice and provider satisfaction.”

Th e proposalw as rejected by th e NAFAnnualM eeting Planning Com m ittee .

116. Neverth eles s , on February 10, 2015, “Brianna Allen”em ailed NAFlook ing for

“inform ation for exh ibiting atth e 39 th NAFm eeting in Baltim ore th is April”becaus e BIOM AX

“definitely w ant[s]to h ave a booth again. Th ank s !”
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117. O n M arch 25, 2015, Defendants entered into NAF’s Agreem entfor Exh ibitSpace,

m ak ing th e sam e false repre s entation to th e effectth atBIOM AX w as in th e bus ine s s of“fetal

tis sue procurem ent”and “h um an biospecim en procurem ent.” Defendants again falsely agreed to

repre s entth e ir bus ine s s “truth fully”and “accurately”atth e annualm eeting, and furth er agreed not

to disclos e any inform ation th ey learned atth e m e eting abs entNAF’s w ritten cons ent. Defendants

registered “Susan Tennenbaum , CEO ,”“RobertSark is , Procurem entM anager/VPOperations ,”

“Rebecca W agner, ContractAdm inistrator,”and LOPEZ , “Procurem entTech nician”as th e

BIOM AX repre s entative s attending th e conference . O n th e firstday ofth e m eeting, on

inform ation and belief, four individuals identifying th em s elves as Tennenbaum , Sark is , W agner,

and LOPEZ pre s ented th em s elves atth e registration de s k purporting to be repre s entatives of

BIOM AX. Becaus e no one is adm itted to th e annualm eeting abs entpre s enting a valid

identification, on inform ation and belief, DALEIDEN and h is co-conspirators pre s ented false

identification to NAFregistration personnelin order to gain acce s s to th e exh ibith alland m eeting

s e s s ions .

118. Before gaining entrance to th e m eeting, LOPEZ , on be h alfofBIOM AX, s igned th e

non-disclosure agre em ents in w h ich th e y prom is e d (1)notto m ak e video or audio recordings of

th e m eetings or discus s ions , (2)to only us e inform ation learned atth e annualm eeting to “enh ance

th e q uality and safety ofs ervice s provided by NAFm em bers and oth er participants ,”and (3)not

to disclos e inform ation learned atth e m e eting to th ird partie s w ith outNAF’s cons ent.

119 . Upon gaining adm ittance to NAF’s annualm eeting, Defendants surreptitiously

taped conversations w ith attendee s and particularly targeted th e staffofPPFA and its affiliate s .

120. Any recordings th atDefendants m ade and th e inform ation th atth ey obtained during

th e Baltim ore NAFconference are am ong th e m aterials subjectto th e Tem porary Re straining

O rder in NAFv. The Center for Medical Progress,et al. (8/3/15 O rder, Dock etNo. 27, N.D. Cal.

Cas e No. 3:15-cv-03522-W H O ).
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Defendants Go Public with Their Fraudulent Smear Campaign To Malign Planned
Parenthood and to Mislead the Public

121. Defendants’long-planned conspiracy to dem onize Planned Parenth ood cam e to

fruition w ith w h atth ey called “Th e H um an CapitalProject”–a s erie s ofh eavily-edited and

deceptive s h ortvideos th atth ey claim ed proved th atPlanned Parenth ood h ad violated fede rallaw

related to fetaltis sue donation. Th e s e s h ortvideos w ere com pos ed in partofclips from th e

fraudulently obtained video footage ofPPFA staffand affiliate s’h ealth care profe s s ionals . Th e

videos w ere posted on th e ir CM Pw ebs ite and w idely dis s em inated on YouTube and Facebook .

122. Defendants accom panied each video w ith a pre s s releas e featuring outrageous

accusations such as as s e rtions th atPlanned Parenth ood engage s in “illegaltraffick ing ofaborted

fetalparts ,”“Planned Parenth ood’s crim inalconspiracy to m ak e m oney offofaborted baby parts

reach e s to th e very h igh e stlevels ofth e ir organization,”and th atPlanned Parenth ood h ad

com m itted “atrocitie s againsth um anity.”O n inform ation and belief, th e s e statem ents w ere

specifically intended to m otivate anti-abortion extrem ists to tak e action –violent, h aras s ing, or

oth erw is e –againstPlaintiffs , th e ir clinics , and th e ir staff.

123. Th e contentofth e s e videos w as w rongfully and illegally obtained. M oreover,

according to expertforens ic analys is , Defendants’h eavily edited s h ortvideos and transcripts do

notpre s enta com plete or accurate record ofth e events th ey purportto depict. Rath er, th e h eavily

edited s h ortvideos “s ignificantly distortand m is repre s entth e conversations depicted.”Th e y

contain “edited conversations w h ere som e spok en w ords are elim inated and som e spok en w ords

are added outofcontext.” (GPS Fus ion, “CM PVideo Analys is ,”August25, 2015 (h ereafter

“GPS Fus ion Report”)). In oth e r w ords , Defendants’s h ortvideos “substantively and s ignificantly

alter th e m eaning ofth e dialog”th atactually occurred. In addition, expertanalys is determ ined

th atDefendants’“transcripts”contain “num erous errors ,”“discrepancie s ,”and “substantive

om is s ions ,”and in som e cas e s w ere “gros sly edited.” Id. Even th e purported “fullfootage”w as

m anipulated and incom plete, according to expertanalys is .

124. Th e expertanalystreach ed th e follow ing conclus ion:

[I]tis im pos s ible to ch aracterize th e extentto w h ich CM P’s undisclos ed edits and
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cuts distortth e m eaning ofth e encounters th e videos purportto docum ent.
H ow ever, th e m anipulation ofth e videos doe s m ean they have no evidentiary
value in a legal context and cannot be relied upon for any official inquiries
unles s supplem ented by CM P’s originalm aterialand forens ic auth entication th at
th is m aterialis supplied in unaltered form . The videos also lack credibility as
journalistic products.

See GPS Fus ion Reportat2.1 (em ph as is added).

First Secret Video: Dr. Nucatola

125. O n July 14, 2015, Defendants posted th e firstdeceptively edited s h ortvideo of

PPFA staff. Th e video us e s strategically selected clips from th e m eeting Defendants h ad w ith Dr.

Nucatola, w h ich th e y s ecretly film ed. Th rough deceptive editing, Defendants pre s entan entirely

false picture ofDr. Nucatola’s view s and statem ents . According to th e expertanalys is , even th e

long-form video Defendants posted is unreliable: “blatantm anipulation ofth is video renders it

us eles s as ‘evidence’and m eans itcannotbe relied upon in officialinq uirie s as a credible record

ofevents .” Id.

126. Th e video w as deceptively edited to m ak e itlook as ifDr. Nucatola (and Planned

Parenth ood affiliate s)w ere “selling”fetaltis sue for profit. Th is is entirely untrue, and Defendants

w illfully ignored (and edited out)facts th atm ak e th is clear. For exam ple:

 During th e taped m e eting Dr. Nucatola stated th at“nobody s h ould be
s elling tis sue . Th at’s justnotth e goalh ere .”Th is statem entw as om itted by
Defendants from th e ir excerpted tape .

 Ten tim e s during th e conversation, Dr. Nucatola said Planned Parenth ood
w ould nots elltis sue or profitin any w ay from tis sue donations . Allten
instance s w ere cutoutofth e video releas ed by Defendants .

 Atone point, Dr. Nucatola stated th atre im burs em entcosts for a tis sue
specim en could range from $30 to $100. Th is statem entw as im m ediately
clarified by Dr. Nucatola, w h o explained th atth e re im burs em entam ount
w as bas ed on th e clinic’s costs –a practice th atis entirely law ful. Dr.
Nucatola explained: “Itjusth as to do w ith space is sue s , are you s ending
som eone th ere w h o’s going to be doing everyth ing, is th ere s h ipping
involved, is som ebody going to h ave to tak e itout… [I]t’s really justabout
ifanyone w ere ever to as k th em , w ellw h atdo you do for th is $60, h ow can
you justify th at?… . So itneeds to be justifiable.” Th is im portantpas sage
w as om itted by Defendants .

 Dr. Nucatola repeatedly stated th atPlanned Parenth ood affiliate s do not
profitfrom tis sue donation. For exam ple, s h e says : “To th em , th is is nota
s ervice th e y s h ould be m ak ing m oney from , it’s som eth ing th e y s h ould be
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able to offer th is to th e ir patients , in a w ay th atdoe sn’tim pactth em ”;
“affiliate s are notlook ing to m ak e m oney by doing th is . Th e y’re look ing to
s erve th e ir patients and justm ak e itnotim pactth e ir bottom line”;“w e’re
notlook ing to m ak e m oney from th is , our goalis to k e ep acce s s available”;
and “th is is nota new revenue stream th ataffiliate s are look ing at, th is is a
w ay to offer th e patientth e s ervice th atth e y w ant, do good for th e m edical
com m unity and stillh ave acce s s .”Nota s ingle one ofth e s e com m ents w as
included in Defendants’excerpted s h ortvideo. Th ey w ere purpos ely cutto
create th e false im pre s s ion th atDr. Nucatola w as saying th e exactoppos ite
ofw h ats h e actually said.

127. Th e reaction to th is inflam m atory and m isleading video w as im m ediate . W ith in an

h our and a h alfofth e posting, Dr. Nucatola w as forced to s h utdow n h e r Tw itter account.

Inflam m atory com m ents on righ t-w ing blogs and w ebs ite s targeting Dr. Nucatola h ave s ince

proliferated. Com m ents lik e : “[Dr.]Nucetela w ilh ave h er ow n w ing in H ell,”“sh e de s erves

everyth ing s h e h as com ing to h er,”and s h e w ill“suffer for ete rnity in a roasting pit”are

com m only directed to h e r. Anonym ous internetposters h ave even leveled death th reats against

Dr. Nucatola: “Dr. Deborah Nucatola s h ould be sum m arily executed. I’lldo itm ys elfifno one

else doe s”;“I’llpay ten th ousand dollars to anyone in need ofa defens e fund for th e m urde r ofDr.

Deborah Nucatola . . . .”

128. After posting th e video online, DALEIDEN began giving pre s s interview s in w h ich

h e openly adm itted to th e conspiracy. In a July 16, 2015 interview w ith BillO’Reilly on Fox

New s , h e stated th ath e and h is co-conspirators h ad “spentth re e years w ith actors”w h o “pos [ed]

as repre s entatives ofa m iddlem an biotech com pany”(i.e., BIOM AX)in order to fraudulently

infiltrate PPFA and Planned Parenth ood affiliate s . During th e interview , DALEIDEN prom is ed “a

lotm ore [videos]to com e .” H e stated h is and h is co-conspirator’s plan to releas e one

m isleadingly edited video each w e e k .

129 . M eanw h ile, NEW M AN appeared on various new s m edia to brag abouth ow h e and

DALEIDEN w ere “discus s ing allofth e various tech niq ue s”th atw ere and w ould be us ed in th e

infiltration, as w ellas th e proce s s for s etting up offak e identitie s and fak e com panie s . As h e told

one reporter: “Butth is is justth e beginning, w e h ave m oles and spie s de ep ins ide th e abortion

cartel. And ata tim e ofour ch oos ing, w e w illreleas e m ore dam ning evidence ofth e abortion

cartel’s illegal, gh astly, and repugnantbutch e ry.”
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Second Secret Video: Dr. Gatter

130. O n July 21, 2015, Defendants posted on th e ir w ebs ite a m isleadingly edited video

containing s egm ents ofth e February 6, 2015 m eeting w ith Dr. Gatter. Again, th e s h ortvideo is

m isleadingly edited. In s ix s eparate instance s , th e contentw as spliced togeth er to create th e

appearance ofa s eam les s conversation. Portions ofth e s ecretly recorded tape th atdo notfit

Defendants’fiction w ere cutfrom th e s h ortvideos . For exam ple, after Defendants repeatedly

urged Dr. Gatter to dem and m ore m oney as partofa fetaltis sue donation contract, s h e re sponded

“w e are notin th is for th e m oney.” In re spons e to Defendants’“req ue sts”th atPlanned Parenth ood

doctors m ak e illegaladjustm ents to th e ir m edicalprocedure s , Dr. Gatter flatly rejected th e idea,

stating “Th at’s notgoing to h appen.”Dr. Gatter also stated clearly th atany Planned Parenth ood

involvem entin fetaltis sue donation w ould h ave to com ply w ith federallaw : “[I]t’s absolutely a

req uirem entth atw e us e only th e officialfederalgovernm entform for tis sue donation, th atw e

don’tm odify itin any w ay.” Allofth e s e portions ofth e surreptitious recording w ere edited outof

th e w idely distributed s h ortvideo.

131. Defendants preferred instead to focus on a s ingle out-of-contextstatem ent

Dr. Gatter m ade –in je st–th ats h e “w ant[s]a Lam borgh ini,”to sugge stth atDr. Gatter is gre edy

and even com m itting a federalcrim e . Th atDr. Gatter w as jok ing is m ade crystalclear by th e

com m ents h e m ade next: “I w ouldn’teven k now h ow to drive a Lam borgh ini.”Defendants

edited th atstatem entout, too.

132. Lik e Dr. Nucatola, th is video expos ed Dr. Gatter to vicious personalattack s and

death th reats . Since th e video’s releas e , Dr. Gatter h as be en called a “baby butch er,”“evil,”and a

“vicious dem onic force”w h o de s erves “a h angm an’s noos e .” Lik e Dr. Nucatola, s h e h as be en

de scribed online as a “dem on,”and com pared to AdolfH itler and Jos eph M engele. Th reats of

violence follow ed: “SICK F***ING B**** SH O ULD BE ABORTED H ERSELF.”Anoth er

poster proclaim ed “Kilallleftard m aggots .”Anoth er: “FILTH Y O LD RO ACH !!! PLANNED

PARENTH O OD NEEDS TO BE BLOW N INTO H ELL!!!”Anoth e r: “[T]h is bitch needs to be

k illed.”Since th e publication ofth e videos , Dr. Gatter h as be en h aras s ed by anti-abortion

prote stors ath er h om e . Th e group also leftgrisly postcards in Dr. Gatter’s m ailbox, and on
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inform ation and belief, th e m ailboxe s ofh er ne igh bors .

133. Th e nextday, July 22, 2015, DALEIDEN, interview ed by Sean H annity ofFox

New s , boasted th ath e and h is co-conspirators “probably h ave h undreds to even th ousands ofh ours

totalofvideotape over th e pasttw o-and-a-h alfyears ,”w h ich w ould “continue to be releas ed in th e

days and m onth s to com e .”

PPRM Video

134. O n July 30, 2015, Defendants posted on th e ir w ebs ite anoth er m isleadingly edited

s h ortvideo us ing footage surreptitiously tak en ins ide th e PPRM h ealth center in Denver. Th e

releas ed video entirely m is repre s ents w h atPPRM staffsaid. O n 13 s eparate occas ions , PPRM

staffsaid th atany arrangem ents related to fetaltis sue donation need to be review ed by attorneys

and follow alllaw s . ButDefendants edited allofth e s e statem ents outofth e ir deceptive s h ort

video. Furth e rm ore , according to expertanalys is , th e publicly releas ed s h ortvideo and transcript

contain m ultiple s egm ents th at“w ere de em ed to be suspicious .” See GPS Fus ion Report. For

exam ple, th e analys is found th atDefendants’transcriptattribute s th e statem ent“It’s a baby”to

PPRM clinic staff. PPRM staffdid notm ak e th atstatem ent: itw as instead m anufactured by

Defendants “eith er th rough transcription error or intentionalfabrication.” Id. Furth erm ore , th e

expertfound th atDALEIDEN and h is co-conspirator repeatedly attem pted to “bait[]Planned

Parenth ood staffinto m ak ing uneth icalstatem ents ,”and as k ed “q ue stions th ats e em de s igned to

elicit‘soundbite s’pertaining to fetalviscera.” Id.

135. As w ith Drs . Nucatola and Gatter, th e PPRM staffm em ber targeted by Defendants

becam e an im m ediate targetofanti-abortion extrem istth reats follow ing th e video’s releas e .

O nline death th reats ensued: “I look forw ard to a tim e w h en abortionists can be . . . publicly

h anged.”And: “[T]h ey s h ould allbe s h ot.”O n August9 , 2015, s h e w as m etby a group of50

extrem ists ath er h om e, h olding s igns stating “Planned Parenth ood s ells baby parts .”Th e group

leftfliers around h er ne igh borh ood w ritten in m as s ive, bold print, accus ing h er ofm urde ring

ch ildren.

PPGC Video

136. O n August4, 2015, Defendants posted on th e ir w ebs ite a m isleadingly edited s h ort
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video us ing footage from th e April9 , 2015 m eeting ins ide th e PPGC office and clinic space in

Texas . O nce again, Defendants edited outany statem entth atw as notcons istentw ith th e ir false

narrative. For exam ple, th e PPGC staffm em ber w h o m etw ith Defendants stated on four s eparate

occas ions th atabortion m eth ods are notsubstantively ch anged becaus e ofa patient’s decis ion to

donate tis sue . Defendants edited outallfour statem ents from th e ir w idely dis s em inated s h ort

video. Sim ilarly, in nine instance s , th e staffm em ber confirm s th atth e re is no “profit”related to

fetaltis sue donation. Allnine ofth e s e statem ents are edited outofth e s h ortvideo. In addition,

th e analys is found th atDefendants’transcriptom itted portions in w h ich th e PPGC staffm em ber

strongly and explicitly rejects Defendants’baiting. W h en Defendants cynically offer

“participation bonus e s to doctors”related to tis sue donation, th e staffm em ber forcefully re sponds :

“No w ay.” Id. Defendants om itted th e s e telling portions , instead painting a picture ofPlanned

Parenth ood’s policie s and practice s th atis w h olly incons istentw ith reality. According to expert

analys is , even th e allegedly “fullfootage”ofth e video recorded atth e PPGC h ealth center w as

“substantially m anipulated.” See GPS Fus ion Report.

137. Lik e th e oth er targets ofDefendants’videos , th e PPGC staffperson targeted h as

be en th rustinto th e public sph ere , w h ere s h e h as be en de scribed as “gh oulis h ,”an “evilw itch ,”

and a “m onster.”Countles s com m enters on Defendants’YouTube page h ave th reatened violence

againstth e staffperson and Planned Parenth ood in general: “th e y s h ould be publicly executed.”;

“Sick bastards s h ould be k illed. Allofth em .”;“Th e s e people need executed and th e ir body parts

sold for ch arity.”;“I really h ope itgets bom bed and every abortion supporter gets publicly lynch ed

by lynch m obs .”

138. Since August, Defendants h ave continued to releas e m ore deceptive s h ortvideos ,

containing clips from num erous private PPFA and affiliate m eetings and space s , including th e

Exh ibitH allofa private conference, as w ellas a Planned Parenth ood affiliate’s s ecure office and

laboratory space . Defendants releas ed “recut”videos ofold footage on January 6 and January 12,

2016. Allofth e conversations involving PPFA or Planned Parenth ood affiliate personnelth at

appear in th e videos w ere recorded w ith outth e k now ledge or cons entofth e subjects . In every

instance, Defendants posted a deceptively edited s h ort-form video along w ith a pre s s releas e by
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Defendants accus ing Planned Parenth ood ofbreak ing th e law .

The Extensive Harm to Plaintiffs Caused by Defendants’ Conspiracy to Defraud

139 . Defendants’m isconducth as substantially dis rupted Plaintiffs’operations and th e ir

delivery ofs e rvice s . Plaintiffs h ave h ad to expend s ignificantre source s to identify and addre s s

th reats to th e safety ofits staff, affiliate s , h ealth care providers , and patients;to addre s s cybe r-

attack s on th e Planned Parenth ood w ebs ite;and to dealw ith oth er problem s th ath ave aris en as a

re sultofth e fraud, lie s , and oth er m isconductperpetrated by Defendants . After th e releas e of

Defendants’videos th ere w as a dram atic increas e in th e th reats , h aras sm ent, and crim inalactivitie s

targeting abortion providers and th e ir supporters and in particular Planned Parenth ood h ealth

centers . Acros s th e country, th e re w ere 849 reported incidents ofvandalism againstPlanned

Parenth ood in th e m onth s ofJuly 2015 and August2015 alone –incidents ofh aras sm entat

Planned Parenth ood h ealth centers increas ed nine fold in July com pared to reported incidents in

June, and th e reported incidents ofh aras sm entw ere even m ore num erous in August. Th e re h ave

been attem pted arsons atPlanned Parenth ood h ealth centers on July 19 , 2015 (Aurora, Illinois)

and August3, 2015 (New O rleans). And m osttragically, on Novem ber 27, 2015, an arm ed

gunm an k illed 3 people and injured anoth er nine ata Planned Parenth ood h ealth center in

Colorado Springs . In California, th ere h as be en a five -fold increas e in th e num ber ofs ecurity

incidents s ince th e beginning ofDefendants’video sm ear cam paign.

140. Plaintiffs h ave expended s ignificantre source s to identify potentialth reats to th e ir

clinics and staffand to provide additionalsecurity in order to ensure th e safety ofth e ir staff,

patients , facilitie s , and operations . Becaus e ofDefendants’actions , th e PPFA and affiliate staff

w h o appear in th e videos h ave be en placed in s ignificantdanger, including be ing subjected to

death th reats , and Plaintiffs’costs to protectth e s e individuals is cons iderable. PPFA h as

expended s ignificantre source s to increas e s ecurity atallfuture conference s as a directre sultof

Defendants’illegalintrus ion into s everalPPFA conference s .

141. Furth erm ore, s h ortly after th e releas e ofth e firstillegaland fraudulently obtained

video, th e PPFA w ebs ite w as h ack ed, w ith th os e claim ing creditfor th e h ack m ak ing reference to

Defendants’cam paign. Th e PPFA w ebs ite is a crucialtoolin Plaintiffs’efforts to m ak e
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reproductive h ealth care acce s s ible to allw om en: m ore th an h alfofPPFA’s affiliate s m ak e th e

w ebs ite available to th e ir patients to book online appointm ents . Over 60 m illion people acce s s th e

w ebs ite annually to gain valuable inform ation aboutth e ir reproductive h ealth care . Th e h ack

rendered th e PPFA w ebs ite inoperable for s everalw ee k s , cutting offth e h ealth centers th atrely on

th e PPFA w ebs ite netw ork to sch edule and coordinate patientcare appointm ents , and preventing

w om en and m en from acce s s ing h ealth care inform ation. Plaintiffs lostincom e from th e los s of

ability to s erve clients over th os e days and h ad to expend s ignificantIT re source s to bring th e

w ebs ite back and to m aintain itagainstfurth er attack .

142. Defendants’actions h ave also led to th e los s ofvendors , w h o h ave term inated th e ir

relations h ip w ith Plaintiffs follow ing th e releas e ofth e videos . Furth erm ore , th e entirely m eritles s

controvers y and th e violence th ath as accom panied, and w as intended to accom pany, th e

controvers y h as m ade itdifficultfor som e affiliate s to h ire staff.

143. In th e afterm ath ofth e releas e ofDefendants’videos , five s eparate Congre s s ional

Com m ittee s , and politicians in num erous state s , h ave com m enced investigations ofPlanned

Parenth ood’s operations . Each ofth e s e investigations h as re q uired Plaintiffs to expend

cons iderable h ours re s earch ing th e allegations , preparing for interview s w ith federaland state

officials, and re sponding to req ue sts for docum ents . W h ile th e s e “investigations”are allm eritles s

and politically m otivated, th ey h ave re q uired th ousands ofh ours ofPlaintiffs’tim e, h ours th at

s h ould h ave been spenton im proving h ealth care for w om en acros s th e country.

144. Defendants’releas e ofvideotape s and transcripts (or any oth er confidential

inform ation)obtained th rough fraudulentrepre s entations , and th e ir intrus ions into PPFA and oth er

private reproductive h ealth care conference s and private m eetings w ith PPFA and affiliate

personnel, h ave dam aged Plaintiffs and th e ir staffin incalculable and irrevers ible w ays .

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS

(RICO) ACT,
18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(c) and 1962(d)))

(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

145. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 144, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.
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146. Plaintiffs are each a “person”as th atterm is defined in 18 U.S.C. §19 61(3). Atall

relevanttim e s , in violation of18 U.S.C. §19 62(c), Defendants conducted th e affairs ofan

as sociated-in-factenterpris e identified h ere in, th e affairs ofw h ich affected interstate com m erce

th rough a pattern ofrack eteering activity. Furth erm ore , in violation of18 U.S.C. §19 62(d),

Defendants k now ingly agreed and conspired to conductor participate in th e conductofsaid

enterpris e’s affairs th rough a pattern ofrack etee ring activity.

147. Th e Enterpris e h ad a h ie rarch icaldecis ion-m ak ing structure h eaded by NEW M AN

and DALEIDEN. Both ofth e s e individuals directed h ow th e sch em e w as to be perpetrated.

W h ile th e fullextentofth e conspiracy and its participants is notyetk now n, for purpos e s ofth is

claim , th e RICO enterpris e is an as sociated-in-factenterpris e cons isting of, atm inim um ,

Defendants CM P, BIOM AX, DALEIDEN, NEW M AN, RH OM BERG, CRONIN, M ERRIT,

LOPEZ and UNKNOW N CO -CONSPIRATORS “Brianna Allen,”“Rebecca W agner”and “Sofia

M ireles”(th e “Enterpris e”). Th e purpos e ofth e Enterpris e w as to perpetrate a sch em e targeting

Plaintiffs and oth er Planned Parenth ood affiliate s in order to dis ruptand burden th e ir core m is s ion

to provide safe q uality reproductive h ealth care to w om en and to dem onize th em in a profe s s ed

attem ptto “close allabortion clinics”and to “stop th e infliction ofh um an m is ery upon vulnerable

w om en and th e ir innocentbabie s .”Th e fraudulentand illegalactions undertak en by th e

Enterpris e w as intended to inflictth e type ofinjury and h arm suffered by Plaintiffs .

148. Th e Enterpris e is an ongoing and continuing bus ine s s organization cons isting of

corporations , suppos ed ch aritable trusts , and individuals th atare and h ave been as sociated for th e

com m on or s h ared purpos e s of, am ong oth er th ings , (1)defrauding Plaintiffs to unlaw fully obtain

acce s s to PPFA conference s and affiliate office s and h ealth centers;(2)com prom is ing Plaintiffs’

and th e ir em ployee s’ability and righ tto h old and attend s ecure and confidentialm eetings;

(3)carrying outan illegaland surreptitious videotaping cam paign;(4)publis h ing deceptively

edited and gros sly m isleading videos and accus ing Plaintiffs ofbe ing a “crim inal”organization;

(5)placing Plaintiffs’staffand h ealth care providers in personaljeopardy th rough publication of

th e ir im age s in gros sly m isleading videos and w idely dis s em inated videos;(6)unlaw fully

burdening Plaintiffs’staffs’constitutionalrigh tto freedom ofas sociation;and (7)unlaw fully
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burdening th e constitutionalrigh tofw om en to acce s s safe, legalabortion in th e United State s .

149 . According to DALEIDEN’s and NEW M AN’s ow n statem ents , th e Enterpris e h as

operated for a period oftw o-and-a-h alfto th re e years , continue s to operate, and h as tak en

h undreds ifnotth ousands ofh ours ofvideotape ofindividuals w h o provide or supportth e

provis ion ofsafe, legalabortion, including ph ys icians . Th e Enterpris e , acting th rough

DALEIDEN, h as releas ed num erous surreptitiously tak en and deceptively edited videotape s , and

h as th reatened and continue s to th reaten th e releas e ofm ore such videotape s .

150. Atallrelevanttim e s , on inform ation and belief, DALEIDEN, CM P, BIO M AX,

NEW M AN, RH OM BERG, CRONIN, M ERRIT, LOPEZ and th e UNKNO W N CO -

CONSPIRATORS w ere aw are ofeach oth e r’s conductin furth erance ofth e sch em e , and w ere

k now ing and w illing participants in th atconduct. By NEW M AN’s and DALEIDEN’s ow n

adm is s ions , th ey discus s ed and agreed upon w h at“tech niq ue s”th e y w ould us e .

151. Th e Enterpris e affected interstate com m erce by registering a fraudulentbus ine s s

and a purported ch aritable institution, by purch as ing th e righ tto s etup an exh ibitbooth atPPFA

conference s , by registering as an Exh ibitor and paying th e as sociated fee s , and by com m unicating

w ith and traveling to m ultiple Planned Parenth ood affiliate office s and h ealth centers . Th e

Enterpris e furth er affected interstate com m erce becaus e ith as diverted Plaintiffs from th e ir core

m is s ion ofproviding q uality reproductive h ealth care s e rvice s and forced Plaintiffs to divert

re source s to protectth e ir h ealth centers and stafffrom th reats to th e ir personalsafety and related

h arm and com batth e m is repre s entations dis s em inated by Defendants .

152. Defendants participated in th e conductofth e affairs ofth e Enterpris e , and notjust

th e ir ow n affairs . DALEIDEN h as given pre s s interview s in w h ich h e boasted aboutth e sch em e

and h is , CM P’s, and BIO M AX’s k now ing and w illing participation in th e s ch em e .

153. Defendants exerted controlover th e Enterpris e and, in violation ofs ection 19 62(c)

ofRICO , Defendants h ave conducted or participated in th e affairs ofth os e RICO enterpris e s in at

leastth e follow ing w ays :

a. By s etting up a s h am com pany –BIOM AX –w h ich falsely h eld its elfoutas

a legitim ate tis sue procurem entorganization;
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b. By s etting up a s h am “nonprofit”and “nonpartisan”ch aritable trust, CM P;

c. By creating, transferring and m aintaining false identitie s and docum entation

to obtain acce s s to PPFA and oth er reproductive h ealth care organization m eetings and Planned

Parenth ood affiliate office s and h ealth centers .

d. By creating and dis s em inating false prom otionalm aterials for a fak e tis sue

procurem entcom pany;

e . By m ak ing false and m isleading repre s entations to Plaintiffs and th e ir staff,

concerning BIOM AX and th e reasons its agents w anted to attend PPFA and oth er reproductive

h ealth care organization m eetings and to vis itto Planned Parenth ood affiliate office s and h ealth

centers;

f. By engaging in an ongoing cam paign to surreptitiously videotape Plaintiffs’

staffin violation oflaw .

154. Th e Enterpris e engaged in a pattern ofrack etee ring activity, cons isting of, am ong

oth er crim e s , m ailand w ire fraud violations . Defendants h ave publicly boasted aboutth e illegal

nature and pervas ivene s s ofth e sch em e . Th e rack eteering activitie s ofDALEIDEN, CM P,

BIOM AX, NEW M AN, RH OM BERG, CRONIN, M ERRIT, LOPEZ and th e ir UNKNOW N CO -

CONSPIRATORS am ounted to a com m on cours e ofconduct, w ith s im ilar pattern and purpos e .

Each s eparate us e ofth e U.S. m ails and/or interstate w ire facilitie s em ployed by th e co-

conspirators w as related, h ad s im ilar intended purpos e s , involved s im ilar participants and m eth ods

ofexecution, and h ad th e sam e re sults affecting th e sam e victim s , including Plaintiffs .

155. Plaintiffs do notand cannotnow k now th e fullextentofth e conspiracy. Ata

m inim um , h ow ever, Defendants us ed th e U.S. m ails and interstate w ire facilitie s for th e purpos e

ofexecuting th e ir unlaw fulsch em e , including, inter alia, th e follow ing, allofw h ich are identified

w ith specificity:

 Septem ber 15, 2013 w ire transm is s ion ofregistration for As sociation of
Reproductive H ealth Profe s s ionals Conference in Denver and th e as sociated
paym entofregistration fee s th rough a creditcard;

 Septem ber 16, 2014 w ire transm is s ion ofth e Exh ibitor registration for th e PPFA
North Am erican Forum on Fam ily Planning, and th e as sociated paym entof
registration fe e s th rough a creditcard th at, on inform ation and belief, w as obtained
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under a ph ony nam e;

 O ctober 17, 2014 em ailfrom BIOM AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood
affiliate staff–sending fraudulentproposalfor tis s ue donation partners h ip, w ith
ph ony BIOM AX broch ure and “w elcom e letter”containing ph ony de scription of
BIOM AX;

 Novem ber 5, 2014 em ailfrom BIO M AX repre s entative to PPM M staffreq ue sting
a s ite vis itin Arizona;

 Decem ber 11, 2014 em ailfrom BIOM AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood
affiliate staff–sending fraudulentproposalfor tis s ue donation partners h ip, w ith
ph ony BIOM AX broch ure and “w elcom e letter”containing ph ony de scription of
BIOM AX;

 February 6, 2015 w ire transm is s ion ofth e Exh ibitor registration for th e PPFA
Planned Parenth ood M eDC Conference, and th e as sociated paym entofregistration
fee s th rough a creditcard;

 February 11, 2015 em ailfrom BIO M AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood staff
–sending fraudulentproposalfor tis sue donation partners h ip, w ith ph ony
BIOM AX biospecim en m aterials transfer agreem ent;

 February 17, 2015 w ire transm is s ion ofth e Exh ibitor registration for th e PPFA
NationalConference, and th e as sociated paym entofregistration fe e s th rough a
creditcard;

 February 19 , 2015 em ailfrom BIO M AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood staff
req ue sting a s ite vis itofa Planned Parenth ood h ealth centers w h ere surgical
procedure s are perform ed to “gauge flow and logistics in th e path lab”;

 April14, 2015 em ailfrom BIOM AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood staff
req ue sting a s ite vis itatPPPSGV;

 M arch 6, 2015 introductory letter from “Susan Tennenbaum ”to Planned
Parenth ood staffaboutBIOM AX, including ph ony repre s entations about
BIOM AX’s bus ine s s and purpos e;

 June 3, 2015 em ailfrom BIOM AX repre s entative to Planned Parenth ood staff
req ue sting lunch or dinner m eeting to discus s logistics for m oving forw ard w ith a
“partners h ip”for tis sue collection in Ph oenix, Arizona;and

 Each oth er em ailalleged in th is Com plaint.

156. Th e foregoing em ails and w ire transm is s ions w ere s entfor th e purpos e ofdece iving

and defrauding Plaintiffs into believing th atBIOM AX w as a legitim ate fetalprocurem ent

organization w h os e intere sts w ere aligned w ith th os e ofPlaintiffs , to fraudulently obtain

confidentialand proprietary inform ation related to Planned Parenth ood and oth er reproductive

h ealth care organization m eetings , to obtain th e identitie s ofPlaintiffs’m em bers , to purch as e

exh ibitbooth space in, and acce s s to, Planned Parenth ood and oth er reproductive h ealth care
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organization m eetings , and to obtain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood clinics and office s for private

m eetings w ith Planned Parenth ood staffth rough fraud and dece it. In s ending th e foregoing false

and fraudulentem ails and w ire transm is s ions , Defendants intended Plaintiffs to rely on th e ir fals e

and fraudulentm is repre s entations , and Plaintiffs did rely on th os e m is repre s entations in perm itting

Defendants acce s s to th e ir m eetings .

157. In addition, on inform ation and belief, Defendants also produced, transferred, and

pos s e s s ed w ith th e intentto us e , false identification docum ents in order to gain adm is s ion to PPFA

and oth er reproductive h ealth care organization m eetings and Planned Parenth ood affiliate office s

and h ealth centers in 2014 and 2015 in violation of18 U.S.C. §1028(a), and conspired to do th e

sam e in violation of18 U.S.C. §1028(f). Specifically, BIOM AX repre s entatives –including

DALEIDEN and M ERRITT–pre s ented fak e ph oto IDs to gain acce s s to private m eetings w h ere

Plaintiffs’staffw ould be in attendance, and to gain acce s s to Planned Parenth ood affiliate office s

and h ealth centers for private m eetings w ith Planned Parenth ood staff. O n inform ation and belief,

Defendants produced th e s e false ph oto identification, and also k now ingly transferred, pos s e s s ed,

or us ed, w ith outlaw fulauth ority, a m eans ofidentification ofanoth er person –to w it, fak e ph oto

identification ofDALEIDEN’s h igh sch oolclas sm ate Brianna Allen –w ith th e intentto violate

federaland state law .

158. Plaintiffs h ave been injured in th e ir bus ine s s and property by reason ofth e s e

violations . Plaintiffs h ave incurred financiallos s e s as a directre sultofDefendants’fraudulent

conduct, including th e costs ofh iring additionalsecurity to protectPlaintiffs’office s , clinics and

staff;costs related to th e h ack ing into PPFA’s w ebs ite , w h ich is us ed by patients ofaffiliate s

nationw ide to m ak e appointm ents online;costs related to re sponding to m ultiple state and federal

investigations and inq uirie s;costs related to los s ofvendors;costs related to los s ofopportunity to

treatclients;and th e costs ofth e vandalism , arson, and oth er incidents th ath ave ph ys ically

dam aged Planned Parenth ood facilitie s and dis rupted th e delivery ofcare to patients , allstem m ing

from Defendants’cam paign oflie s . Planned Parenth ood w as th e prim ary intended victim of

Defendants’m ulti-year sch em e , and th e injurie s suffered by Plaintiffs w ere both fore s e eable and a

naturalcons e q uence ofDefendants’actions .
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159 . Under th e provis ions ofs ection 19 64(c)ofRICO , each ofDefendants is jointly and

s everally liable for th re e tim e s th e dam age s th atPlaintiffs h ave sustained, plus th e costs of

bringing th is law suit, including reasonable attorneys’fee s .

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF 18 U.S.C. § 2511)

(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

160. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 159 , inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

161. In violation of18 U.S.C. §2511(a)and (b), Defendants intentionally intercepted

th e oralcom m unications ofPlaintiffs and th e ir staffatconference s and private m eetings as

de scribed h ere in. Defendants also intentionally procured oth er people to intercept, and to

endeavor to interceptsuch oralcom m unications . O n inform ation and belief, Defendants did so by

us ing concealed electronic device s th atm ak e video and audio recordings th attransm itsuch

recordings th rough a w ire or by radio, and th e s e device s w e re transported th rough interstate

com m erce w h en purch as ed by Defendants and/or w h en transported to Plaintiffs’private

conference s , to private m eetings w ith Plaintiffs’staffm em bers , and to s ecure Planned Parenth ood

facilitie s .

162. O n inform ation and belief, Defendants endeavored to us e and disclos e th e contents

ofth e intercepted oralcom m unications , in violation of18 U.S.C. §2511(c)and (d). Th e y did so

w ith k now ledge th atth e inform ation w as obtained th rough th e interception ofprotected oral

com m unications .

163. Defendants’us e ofdevice s to interceptoralcom m unications in Colorado and

Texas , discus s ed above, took place ins ide th e private office and clinicalspace s ofPlanned

Parenth ood h ealth centers –th atis , on th e prem is e s ofa bus ine s s or oth er com m ercial

establis h m entth e operations ofw h ich affectinterstate or fore ign com m erce . Defendants

intercepted oralcom m unications w ith th e purpos e ofobtaining inform ation relating to Planned

Parenth ood’s operations .

164. Plaintiffs reasonably and justifiably expected th atth e ir oralcom m unications , and

th os e ofth e ir staff, w ould notbe subjectto interception. 18 U.S.C. §2510(2).
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165. Neith er Plaintiffs , nor any ofPlaintiffs’staff, cons ented to Defendants’recording

ofth e ir oralcom m unications .

166. In surreptitiously intercepting th e com m unications , Defendants acted w ith th e

purpos e and intentofcom m itting crim inaland tortious acts . Such crim inaland tortious acts

include, butare notlim ited to:

a. Defendants intercepted th e com m unications w ith th e purpos e offurth ering

th e ir conspiracy to violate th e federalRICO statute, 18 U.S.C. §§19 62(c)and 19 62(d), (as

de scribed in th e firstclaim for relief).

b. Defendants intercepted th e com m unications w ith th e purpos e ofinvading

th e privacy ofPlaintiffs’staff.

167. Plaintiffs h ave been dam aged by Defendants’violations .

168. As “persons”(as us ed in 18 U.S.C. §2520 and 18 U.S.C. §2510(6))w h os e oral

com m unications w ere intercepted in violation of18 U.S.C. §2511, Plaintiffs are auth orized to

s e e k injunctive relief, civildam age s (including both actualand statutory dam age s), punitive

dam age s , and reasonable attorne y’s fee s and costs pursuantto 18 U.S.C. §2520.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(CIVIL CONSPIRACY)

(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

169 . Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 168, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

170. Defendants and Defendants’co-conspirators k now ingly and w illfully conspired

and/or agreed am ong th em s elves to defraud Plaintiffs and to injure Plaintiffs w ith a pattern of

fraudulentand m alicious conduct, including butnotlim ited to:

a. By s etting up a s h am com pany –BIOM AX –w h ich falsely h eld its elfoutas

a legitim ate tis sue procurem entorganization;

b. By m ak ing false and m isleading prom is e s and repre s entations to Plaintiffs

concerning BIOM AX and th e reasons its agents w anted to attend PPFA and oth er reproductive

h ealth care organization m eetings and conference s , and to m ak e vis its to Planned Parenth ood

affiliate office s and h ealth centers;
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c. By s ending false inform ation to Plaintiffs and th e ir em ploye e s about

BIOM AX;

d. By s etting up a fals e w ebs ite;

e . By engaging in an ongoing cam paign to surreptitiously videotape Plaintiffs’

staffin violation oflaw ;

f. By creating, transferring and m aintaining false identitie s and docum entation

to obtain acce s s to PPFA and oth er reproductive h ealth care organization m eetings and th e office s

and clinics ofPlanned Parenth ood affiliate s .

171. As a proxim ate re sultofth e w rongfulacts h ere in alleged, Plaintiffs h ave diverted

and expended substantialre source s to addre s s th e cons e q uence s ofDefendants’fraud, th e reby

suffering pecuniary los s .

172. Defendants’ongoing conspiracy to defraud, as de scribed above, pre s ents a

continuing th reatto Plaintiffs . IfDefendants are allow ed to continue th e ir w rongfulacts , Plaintiffs

w illsuffer furth er irreparable injury and los s .

173. Defendants and Defendants’co-conspirators did th e acts and th ings h e re in alleged

pursuantto, and in furth e rance of, th e conspiracy and th e above -alleged agreem ent. In doing th e

th ings h ere in alleged, Defendants acted w ith m alice and oppre s s ion, w ith th e intentto caus e injury

to Plaintiff, th ereby w arranting an as s e s sm entofpunitive dam age s in an am ountappropriate to

punis h Defendants and deter oth ers from engaging in s im ilar m isconduct.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(BREACH OF CONTRACT)

(By PPFA Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ, CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN
CO-CONSPIRATORS)

174. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 173, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

175. O n Septem ber 16, 2014, on February 6, 2015, and again on February 17, 2015,

Defendants DALEIDEN, M ERRITT, LOPEZ , CM P, BIOM AX and “Brianna Allen”entered into

w ritten Exh ibitor Agreem ents w ith PPFA related to registration for th e PPFA conference s in

M iam i, O rlando, and W as h ington D.C. re spectively. Defendants repre s ented th atBIOM AX w as a
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legitim ate biologicalspecim en procurem entorganization. Defendants agreed th atth e ir

contribution to th e conference s w ould be us efulto attendee s and beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir

clients and patients and th atth ey w ould com ply w ith allapplicable law s related to fraud, abus e ,

privacy, and confidentiality.

176. Defendants h ave breach ed th e s e agre em ents . Contrary to th e Exh ibitor Term s and

Conditions to w h ich Defendants agreed: (a)BIO M AX’s participation atth e PPFA conference s

w as notcons istentw ith Plaintiffs’purpos e s and w as notus efulto attendee s and beneficialto th e

intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients;(b)Defendants m is repre s ented w h o th ey w ere in order to

fraudulently forge “profe s s ional”contacts , and to m ak e video, audio, ph otograph ic, or oth e r

recordings w ith th e intentofh arm ing Plaintiffs;and (c)Defendants violated num erous law s

related to fraud, abus e , privacy, and confidentiality.

177. Plaintiffs h ave perform ed allofth e conditions ofth e agre em ents on th e ir partto be

done and perform ed in accordance w ith th e term s ofth e agre em ents .

178. As a directre sultofDefendants’breach e s ofth e ir agre em ents w ith PPFA, Plaintiffs

h ave be en dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s on

s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and fede ral

investigations and inq uirie s .

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(BREACH OF CONTRACT)

(By PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW, PPMM, and PPOSB Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ,
CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

179 . Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 178, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

180. O n February 5, 2014 and again on M arch 25, 2015, DefendantM ERRITTentered

into w ritten Exh ibitor Agreem ents w ith NAFin w h ich s h e prom is ed th atBIOM AX w as a

biologicalspecim en procurem entcom pany, th atBIOM AX’s exh ibitfor th e annualm eetings

w ould be cons istentw ith NAF’s purpos e s , th atBIOM AX w ould identify and display its s ervice s

truth fully and accurately, and th atany inform ation disclos ed orally or visually atth e annual

m eeting w ould notbe disclos ed to any th ird party abs entNAF’s w ritten cons ent.
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181. O n April5, 2014 and again on April18, 2015, Defendants DALEIDEN,

M ERRITT, LOPEZ , and “Brianna Allen”s igned non-disclosure agre em ents in w h ich th ey

prom is ed notto m ak e video, audio, ph otograph ic, or oth er recordings atth e NAFannualm eetings ,

th atth ey w ould notdisclos e any inform ation learned atNAF’s annualm eetings to th ird partie s

abs entNAF’s cons ent, and th atth ey w ould only us e inform ation learned atNAF’s annual

m eetings in order to enh ance th e q uality and safety ofs ervice s provided by NAFm em bers and

oth er annualm eeting participants .

182. Defendants w ere aw are th atth e purpos e ofth e s e agreem ents w as to protectNAF

and any confidentialinform ation s h ared atits m eetings , and to protectth e safety and s ecurity of

NAF’s staff, its m em bers , and th e attende e s atNAF’s annualm eetings . Attendee s atNAF’s

annualm eetings , including Plaintiffs PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW ,PPM M , and PPOSB, are intended

th ird party-beneficiarie s to each and every contractde scribed in th e preceding paragraph s .

183. Defendants h ave breach ed th e s e agre em ents . Contrary to th e ir w ritten Exh ibitor

Agreem ents , BIOM AX is nota biologicalspecim en procurem entcom pany, BIOM AX’s exh ibit

for th e annualm eetings w as notcons istentw ith NAF’s purpos e s , and BIOM AX did notidentify

its elfor its s e rvice s truth fully and accurately. Contrary to th e ir w ritten Exh ibitor Agreem ents , on

inform ation and belief, Defendants h ave disclos ed inform ation orally or visually atth e annual

m eetings to th ird partie s w ith outNAF’s w ritten cons ent. Contrary to th e ir w ritten agre em ents , on

inform ation and belief, Defendants did m ak e video, audio, ph otograph ic, or oth er recordings atth e

NAFannualm eetings , h ave disclos ed inform ation learned atNAF’s annualm eetings to th ird

partie s w ith outNAF’s cons ent, and h ave notus ed inform ation learned atNAF’s annualm eetings

in order to enh ance th e q uality and safety ofs ervice s provided by NAFm em bers and oth er annual

m eeting participants .

184. O n inform ation and belief, NAFh as perform ed allofth e conditions ofth e

agre em ents on its part, and perform ed in accordance w ith th e term s ofth e agreem ents .

185. As a directre sultofDefendants’breach e s ofth e ir agre em ents w ith NAF, Plaintiffs

h ave be en dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s on

s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and fede ral
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investigations and inq uirie s .

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(TRESPASS)

(By PPFA Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ, CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN
CO-CONSPIRATORS)

186. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 185, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

187. Plaintiffs pos s e s s ed a righ tto exclus ive us e ofth e realproperty th e y leas ed for

Planned Parenth ood m eetings .

188. As alleged h e re in, Defendants intentionally entered or caus ed anoth er person to

enter th e aforem entioned property th atw as in PPFA’s pos s e s s ion.

189 . As alleged h e re in, Defendants fraudulently induced PPFA’s conditionalcons entto

perm itDefendants to attend PPFA conference s . PPFA conditioned its cons enton Defendants’

agreem entth atth e ir participation in th e PPFA conference s w ould be us efulto attendee s and

beneficialto th e intere sts ofPlaintiffs’clients and patients , and th atDefendants w ould com ply

w ith allapplicable law s related to fraud, abus e , privacy and confidentiality. O n inform ation and

belief, Defendants subs e q uently exce eded th e scope ofPlaintiffs’cons entto enter by k now ingly

and intentionally, surreptitiously videotaping Plaintiffs’staffatth os e m e etings w ith outth e ir

k now ledge or cons ent. Defendants’participation atth e PPFA conference s w as notcons istentw ith

Plaintiffs’purpos e s and w as notus efulto attende e s and beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir clients

and patients , th ereby furth er exceeding Plaintiffs’conditioned cons ent.

19 0. Defendants’k now ing and intentionalconductalleged h ere in, w h ich exceeded th e

scope ofPPFA’s conditioned cons entto enter PPFA’s m e etings , constitute s a tre spas s .

19 1. As a re sultofDefendants’tre spas s , PPFA h ad suffered –and continue to suffer –

econom ic h arm and irreparable h arm th atinclude s , butis notlim ited to: be ing forced to divert

re source s to com batDefendants’m is repre s entations in intentionally distorted videos tak en w h ile

tre spas s ing on Plaintiffs’property;and dealing w ith s ecurity th reats , property dam age,

governm entalinvestigations , h aras sm entand intim idation, online h ack ing, and oth er h arm s th at

h ave be en th e directre sultofDefendants’illegalconduct.
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19 2. Defendants’actions constitute m alice and oppre s s ion, as defined under California

CivilCode §329 4(c), as Defendants fraudulently induced Plaintiffs into gaining acce s s to

Plaintiffs’m eetings . Defendants’actions furth er constitute intentionalm isconductor gros s

negligence, as defined under Fla. Stat. §768.72;and m alice and oppre s s ion, as defined under th e

law s ofth e DistrictofColum bia. Punitive dam age s are appropriate to punis h Defendants and

deter oth ers from engaging in s im ilar m isconduct.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATIONS OF CALIF. BUS. & PROFS. CODE § 17200, ET SEQ.

FOR UNLAWFUL, UNFAIR, AND FRAUDULENT ACTS)
(By All Plaintiffs Against All Defendants)

19 3. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 19 2, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

19 4. As alleged h e re in, Defendants h ave com m itted “unlaw ful”bus ine s s acts as defined

by California Bus ine s s and Profe s s ions Code §17200, by: (1)violating 18 U.S.C. §19 62(c);(2)

violating 18 U.S.C. §2511;(3)violating California PenalCode §§ 632 and 634;(4)violating §

10-402 ofth e Courts and JudicialProceedings Article ofth e M aryland Annotated Code;and (5)

violating Section 9 34 Title XLVII ofth e Florida Crim inalProcedure Law .

19 5. Plaintiffs re s erve th e righ tto allege oth er violations oflaw w h ich constitute

unlaw fulbus ine s s practice s . Defendants h ave com m itted “unfair”and “fraudulent”acts ofunfair

com petition, as defined by California Bus ine s s and Profe s s ions Code §17200, by engaging –and

continuing to engage –in conductth atis lik ely to dece ive m em bers ofth e public. Th is conduct

include s , butis notlim ited to: (1)conspiring to defraud and defrauding Plaintiffs for th e sole

purpos e ofgaining acce s s to Plaintiffs’conference s and th e ir staff;(2)s ecretly taping Plaintiffs’

staffm em bers atconference s and m e etings;and (3)dece iving th e public th rough

m is repre s entations and m isleading statem ents as to th e nature and legality ofPlanned

Parenth ood’s practice s . Defendants engaged in such conductw ith th e intentofh aras s ing and

intim idating Plaintiffs , th e ir staffand patients , discrediting life -saving, legalfetaltis sue donation,

and underm ining Planned Parenth ood’s m is s ion to provide e s s entialreproductive h ealth care to

m illions ofpatients acros s th e United State s .
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19 6. An action for injunctive reliefand re stitution is specifically auth orized under

California Bus ine s s and Profe s s ions Code §17203.

19 7. As a re sultofDefendants’“unlaw ful,”“unfair,”and “fraudulent”acts , Plaintiffs

h ave be en dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s on

s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and fede ral

investigations and inq uirie s . Plaintiffs h ave th us suffered injury in factand h ave lostm oney and

property as a directre sultofDefendants’unlaw ful, unfair, and fraudulentconduct.

19 8. Defendants’unlaw ful, unfair and fraudulentconductis ongoing. Th e y h ave

publically stated th atth ey “h ave m oles and spie s de ep ins ide th e abortion Cartel,”an explicit

th reatth atth e y intend to continue to engage in unlaw fuland fraudulentacts m eantto h arm

Plaintiffs th rough furth er w rongfulinvas ions and m alicious lie s .

19 9 . Defendants’unlaw ful, unfair and fraudulentpractice s , as de scribed above, pre s enta

continuing th reatto Plaintiffs . IfDefendants are allow ed to continue th e ir w rongfulacts , Plaintiffs

w illsuffer furth er irreparable injury and los s .

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION)

(By PPFA Against All Defendants)

200. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 19 9 , inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

201. Defendants h ave m ade num erous false repre s entations to PPFA in order to gain

acce s s to m eetings to w h ich th e y oth erw is e w ould never be perm itted. Defendants created a

fictitious com pany and pre s ented fak e identifications to infiltrate and gain acce s s to PPFA’s

private conference and to private m eetings w ith Plaintiffs’staff.

202. W h en Defendants m ade th e s e repre s entations , Defendants k new th em to be false .

Defendants m ade th e s e repre s entations w ith th e intentto dece ive and defraud PPFA and to induce

PPFA to actin reliance on th e repre s entations in th e m anner h ere in alleged, or w ith th e

expectation th atPPFA w ould so act.

203. PPFA, atth e tim e Defendants m ade th e s e repre s entations and atth e tim e ofth e

actions h ere in alleged, w as notaw are ofth e fals ity ofth e Defendants’repre s entations and believed
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th em to be true .

204. In reliance on Defendants’m is repre s entations , PPFA provided Defendants w ith

acce s s to PPFA’s conference s .

205. As a re sultofDefendants’w rongfulacts , PPFA h as suffered and/or w illsuffer

econom ic h arm and irreparable h arm caus ed by th e im proper acq uis ition, us e , and disclosure of

Plaintiffs’confidentialinform ation, including h arm to th e safety, s ecurity, and privacy ofPlaintiffs

and th e ir staff, and h arm caus ed by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s on

s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and fede ral

investigations and inq uirie s . IfDefendants are allow ed to continue th e ir w rongfulacts , PPFA w ill

suffer furth er irreparable injury and los s .

206. Defendants’actions constitute m alice and oppre s s ion, as defined under California

CivilCode §329 4(c), as Defendants fraudulently induced PPFA into gaining acce s s to PPFA’s

m eetings . Defendants’actions furth er constitute intentionalm isconductor gros s negligence, as

defined under Fla. Stat. §768.72;and m alice and oppre s s ion, as defined under th e law s ofth e

DistrictofColum bia. Punitive dam age s are appropriate to punis h Defendants and deter oth ers

from engaging in s im ilar m isconduct.

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA PENAL CODE § 632)

(By PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW, PPMM, and PPOSB Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ,
CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

207. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 206, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

208. O n inform ation and belief, DALEIDEN and h is co-conspirators intentionally

recorded confidentialcom m unications m ade during th e NAF2014 annualconference in San

Francisco. Staffrepre s entatives from PPFA, PPSW , PPMM , PPOSBC and PPNC attended th e

NAF2014 annualconference in San Francisco.

209 . DALEIDEN and h is co-conspirators also intentionally recorded confidential

com m unications m ade during private m eetings w ith PPFA and Planned Parenth ood affiliate staff

m em bers in w h ich th e y h ad a reasonable expectation ofprivacy, in violation ofCalifornia Penal
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Code §632.

210. Plaintiffs and th e ir staffh ad a reasonable expectation ofprivacy regarding th e ir

com m unications during th e 2014 NAFannualm e eting. Th e ir expectation w as reasonable becaus e

(1)allattende e s atth e m eeting, including Defendants , w ere re q uired to s ign non-disclosure

agre em ents w ith confidentiality provis ions prior to entering th e m eeting and allattendee s rece ived

and w ere re q uired to w ear badge s dem onstrating th atth ey h ad s igned such agreem ents;(2)NAF

h ad in place a Security Program to ensure th atcom m unications concerning and m ade during th e

annualm eeting w ould be confidentialand re stricted to NAFm em bers and trusted oth ers;and (3)

th e nature and subjectm atter ofth e conference s w ere h igh ly s ens itive.

211. Defendants’recordings ofPlaintiffs’staffw ere m ade w ith outPlaintiffs’cons entor

th e cons entofth e ir staff.

212. As a directre sultofDefendants’w rongfuland illegalinvas ions ofprivacy,

Plaintiffs h ave been dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s

on s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and federal

investigations and inq uirie s .

213. Plaintiffs are auth orized by statute to bring a civilaction for $5,000 per violation or

th re e tim e s th e am ountofactualdam age s , as w ellas injunctive relief, pursuantto California Penal

Code §637.2.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF CALIFORNIA PENAL CODE § 634)

(By PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW, PPMM, and PPOSB Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT,
LOPEZ, CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

214. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 213, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

215. NAFpos s e s s ed a righ tto exclus ive us e ofth e realproperty th e y leas ed for th e 2014

NAFconference h eld in San Francisco in 2014.

216. As alleged h e re in, NAFgranted conditionalcons entto “RobertSark is”(Defendant

DALEIDEN), “Susan Tennenbaum ”(DefendantM ERRITT), “Brianna Allen,”CM P(th rough its

agents DALEIDEN and M ERRITT)and BIOM AX to attend th e NAF2014 conference .
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217. Defendants DALEIDEN, M ERRITT, “Brianna Allen”, CM Pand BIOM AX

exceeded th e lim ited scope ofNAF’s conditionalcons entby fraudulently repre s enting th e ir

identitie s and purpos e for attending th e NAFconference, by failing to h old any inform ation

rece ived atth e conference confidentialand by m ak ing s ecretvideo recordings in violation of

NAF’s non-disclosure agre em ent.

218. Defendants’k now ing and intentionalconductalleged h ere in, w h ich exceeded th e

scope ofNAF’s conditionalcons entto enter its conference constituted a tre spas s .

219 . O n inform ation and belief, Defendants tre spas s ed on NAF’s conference s for

purpos e ofviolating Penal632 as alleged h ere in.

220. Plaintiffs w ere injured by Defendants violation ofPenalCode §634 and §632.

221. Plaintiffs are auth orized by statute to bring a civilaction for $5,000 per violation or

th re e tim e s th e am ountofactualdam age s , as w ellas injunctive relief, pursuantto California Penal

Code §637.2.

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF SECTION 934 TITLE XLVII OF THE FLORIDA CRIMINAL

PROCEDURE LAW)
(By All Plaintiffs Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ, CMP, BIOMAX, and

UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

222. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 221, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

223. O n inform ation and belief, Plaintiffs allege th atDefendantDALEIDEN and h is co-

conspirators intentionally intercepted and/or procured oth er persons to interceptprivate oral

com m unications m ade during 2015 PPFA M edicalDirectors CouncilConference in O rlando,

Florida, and th e 2014 PPFA North Am erican Forum on Fam ily Planning Conference in M iam i,

Florida, in violation ofSection 9 34 ofth e Florida Crim inalProcedure & Corrections Law . Staff

from allPlaintiffs attended th e s e conference s .

224. Plaintiffs and th e ir staffh ad a reasonable expectation ofprivacy regarding

Plaintiffs’com m unications during th e 2015 PPFA M edicalDirectors CouncilConference and th e

2014 PPFA North Am erican Forum on Fam ily Planning Conference . Th e ir expectation w as
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reasonable becaus e (1)allattendee s atth e m e eting, including Defendants , w ere re q uired to agre e

to term s and conditions de s igned to ensure th atallconference participants h eld intere sts cons istent

w ith th os e ofPlanned Parenth ood and w ould disclos e any conflicts ofintere st;(2)PPFA h ad in

place s ecurity protocols req uiring allconference participants to provide legalidentification and

ensuring th atcom m unications concerning and m ade during th e conference s w ould be confidential

and re stricted to legitim ate conference participants and trusted oth ers;and (3)th e nature and

subjectm atter ofth e conference s w e re h igh ly s ens itive .

225. Defendants’recordings ofPlaintiffs’staff’s private com m unications w ere m ade

w ith outth e ir cons entand/or th e cons entor auth orization ofallpartie s .

226. As a directre sultofDefendants’w rongfuland illegalinvas ions ofprivacy,

Plaintiffs h ave been dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s

on s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and federal

investigations and inq uirie s .

227. Plaintiffs are auth orized by statute to bring a civilaction for eq uitable or

declaratory relief, actualdam age s , or liq uidated dam age s com puted atth e rate of$100 a day for

each day ofviolation or $1,000, w h ich ever is h igh er, punitive dam age s , and reasonable attorney’s

fee s and costs , pursuantto Title XLVII ofFlorida’s Crim inalProcedure & Corrections Code

§9 34.10.

TWELFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(VIOLATION OF § 10-402 OF THE COURTS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS

ARTICLE OF THE MARYLAND ANNOTATED CODE)
(By PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW, PPMM, and PPOSB Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ,

CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

228. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 227, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

229 . O n inform ation and belief, Plaintiffs allege th atDALEIDEN and h is co-

conspirators w illfully intercepted and/or procured oth er persons to interceptprivate oral

com m unications during th e 2015 NAFannualm e eting in Baltim ore , M aryland, in violation ofth e

M aryland W iretapping and Electronic Surveillance Act, s ection 10-402 ofth e Courts and Judicial
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Proceedings Article ofth e M aryland Annotated Code . Staffrepre s entative s from PPFA, PPNC,

PPPSW ,PPM M and PPOSB attended th e NAFannualm eeting in Baltim ore, M aryland.

230. Plaintiffs and th e ir staffh ad a reasonable expectation ofprivacy regarding

Plaintiffs’com m unications during th e 2015 NAFannualm eeting. Plaintiffs’expectation w as

reasonable becaus e (1)allattendee s atth e m e eting, including Defendants , w ere re q uired to s ign

non-disclosure agre em ents w ith confidentiality provis ions prior to entering th e m eeting and all

attendee s rece ived and w ere re q uired to w ear badge s dem onstrating th atth ey h ad s igned such

agre em ents;(2)NAFh ad in place a Security Program to ensure th atcom m unications concerning

and m ade during th e annualm eeting w ould be confidentialand re stricted to NAFm em bers and

trusted oth ers;and (3)th e nature and subjectm atter ofth e conference s w e re h igh ly s ens itive .

231. Defendants’recordings ofPlaintiffs’private com m unications , and th os e ofth e ir

staff, atth e 2015 NAFannualm eeting w ere m ade w ith outNAF’s cons entand/or th e cons entor

auth orization ofallpartie s .

232. As a directre sultofDefendants’w rongfuland illegalinvas ions ofprivacy,

Plaintiffs h ave been dam aged, including by be ing forced to expend additional, extens ive re source s

on s ecurity and IT s ervice s , property dam age, and re sponding to m ultiple state and federal

investigations and inq uirie s .

233. Plaintiffs are auth orized by statute to bring a civilaction for actualdam age s , or

liq uidated dam age s com puted atth e rate of$100 a day for each day ofviolation or $1,000,

w h ich ever is h igh e r, punitive dam age s , and reasonable attorney’s fe e s and costs , pursuantto M d.

Code Ann., Cts . & Jud. Proc. §10-410(a).

THIRTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(INVASION OF PRIVACY: INTRUSION UPON A PRIVATE PLACE)

(By All Plaintiffs Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ, CMP, BIOMAX, and
UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

234. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 233, inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

235. Plaintiffs pre s entth is claim on be h alfofth e ir staff. Plaintiffs h ave standing to

pre s entth is claim on be h alfofth e ir staffbecaus e : (1)th e ir staffw ould oth e rw is e h ave standing to
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sue in th e ir ow n righ t;(2)th e privacy and safety is sue s Plaintiffs s e e k to vindicate on be h alfofits

staffare centralto th e ir core purpos e;and (3)ne ith er th e claim as s erted nor th e reliefre q ue sted

re q uire s th e participation ofindividualstaffin th e law suit.

236. Plaintiffs’staffh ad an objectively reasonable expectation th atth e conversations

and interactions betw een participants atth e PPFA conference s (in M iam i, O rlando, and

W as h ington D.C.)and th e NAFconference s (in San Francisco and Baltim ore), w ould be private

and notbe covertly recorded by anyone, letalone by repre s entatives from anti-abortion groups , or

publis h ed to th e public atlarge via th e internet. Th os e expectations w ere reasonable becaus e (1)

in order to acce s s th e conference s , Defendants repre s ented th atBIOM AX w as a legitim ate

biologicalspecim en procurem entorganization, and th atth e ir contribution to th e conference s

w ould be us efulto attendee s and beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients and th at

th ey w ould com ply w ith allapplicable law s related to fraud, abus e , privacy, and confidentiality;

(2)allattende e s atth e m eetings , including Defendants , w ere re q uired to s ign term s and conditions

or non-disclosure agre em ents w ith confidentiality provis ions prior to entering th e m e eting and all

attendee s rece ived and w ere re q uired to w ear badge s dem onstrating th atth ey h ad s igned such

agre em ents;(3)NAFh ad in place a Security Program to ensure th atcom m unications concerning

and m ade during th e annualm eeting w ould be confidentialand re stricted to NAFm em bers and

trusted oth ers;and (4)th e nature and subjectm atter ofth e conference s w e re h igh ly s ens itive .

237. Plaintiffs’staffh ad an objectively reasonable expectation th atth e private bus ine s s

conversations th e y h ad w ith DEFENDANTS w h o w ere pos ing as BIOM AX repre s entatives w ould

notbe covertly recorded, listened to by anti-abortion activists , or publis h ed to th e public atlarge

via th e internet. Th e expectation w as reasonable becaus e ofth e s etting in w h ich th e conversations

took place, th e false repre s entations m ade to th e staffm em bers aboutth e purpos e ofth e m e eting

and th e identity ofth os e th ey m etw ith , and th e subjectm atter ofth e conversations

238. By fraudulently inducing Plaintiffs’cons entto perm itth e ir attendance atth e s e

private conference s and m eetings and by surreptitiously videotaping and recording Planned

Parenth ood staffth e reafter, Defendants intentionally intruded upon th e privacy ofPlaintiffs’staff.

239 . Defendants’intentionalintrus ion upon th e privacy ofPlaintiffs’staffw ould be
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h igh ly offens ive to a reasonable person in ligh tofth e m alice and oppre s s ion underlying

Defendants’m otives and objectives , th e nature ofth e invas ion (covertsurveillance by electronic

recording device s), Defendants’intrus ion by dece itand dis regard for th e law , th e h istory of

violence, h aras sm entand oppre s s ion perpetrated by anti-abortion extrem ists againstanyone

connected w ith abortion and e specially abortion providers , and th e lik elih ood th atpublication of

Defendants video tape s w ould lead to s im ilar h aras sm entand violence againstPlaintiffs’staff. As

a re sultofDefendants’conduct, Plaintiffs’staffh ave suffered and w illcontinue to suffer

irreparable injury.

FOURTEENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(INVASION OF PRIVACY: CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION ART. I § I)

(By PPFA, PPNC, PPPSW, PPMM, and PPOSB Against DALEIDEN, MERRITT, LOPEZ,
CMP, BIOMAX, and UNKNOWN CO-CONSPIRATORS)

240. Plaintiffs incorporate and reallege paragraph s 1 th rough 239 , inclus ive, as th ough

fully setforth h ere in.

241. Plaintiffs pre s entth is claim on be h alfofth e ir staff. Plaintiffs h ave standing to

pre s entth is claim on be h alfofth e ir staffbecaus e : (1)th e ir staffw ould oth e rw is e h ave standing to

sue in th e ir ow n righ t;(2)th e privacy and safety is sue s Plaintiffs s e e k to vindicate on be h alfofits

staffare centralto th e ir core purpos e;and (3)ne ith er th e claim as s erted nor th e reliefre q ue sted

re q uire s th e participation ofindividualstaffin th e law suit.

242. Plaintiffs’staffh ad an objectively reasonable expectation th atth e conversations

and interactions betw een participants atth e PPFA conference s (in M iam i, O rlando, and

W as h ington D.C.), th e NAFconference s (in San Francisco and Baltim ore)de scribed h ere in,

w ould be private from covertelectronic recording by repre s entatives from anti-abortion groups .

Plaintiffs’staff’s expectation w as reasonable becaus e (1)in orde r to acce s s th e conference s ,

Defendants repre s ented th atBIOM AX w as a legitim ate biologicalspecim en procurem ent

organization, and th atth e ir contribution to th e conference s w ould be us efulto attendee s and

beneficialto th e intere sts ofth e ir clients and patients and th atth ey w ould com ply w ith all

applicable law s related to fraud, abus e , privacy, and confidentiality;(2)allattendee s atth e

m eetings , including Defendants , w ere re q uired to s ign term s and conditions or non-disclosure
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agreem ents w ith confidentiality provis ions prior to entering th e m eeting and allattendee s rece ived

and w ere re q uired to w ear badge s dem onstrating th atth ey h ad s igned such agreem ents;(3)NAF

h ad in place a Security Program to ensure th atcom m unications concerning and m ade during th e

annualm eeting w ould be confidentialand re stricted to NAFm em bers and trusted oth ers;and (4)

th e nature and subjectm atter ofth e conference s w ere h igh ly s ens itive.

243. Plaintiffs’staffh ad an objectively reasonable expectation th atth e private bus ine s s

conversations th e y h ad w ith DEFENDANTS w h o w ere pos ing as BIOM AX repre s entatives

de scribed h ere in w ould notbe covertly recorded, listened to by anti-abortion activists , or

publis h ed to th e public atlarge . Th e expectation w as reasonable becaus e ofth e s etting in w h ich

th e conversations took place, th e false repre s entations m ade to th e staffm em bers and th e subject

m atter ofth e conversations .

244. By fraudulently inducing Plaintiffs’cons entto attend th e s e private conference s and

m eetings and by surreptitiously videotaping and recording Planned Parenth ood staffth ereafter,

Defendants intentionally intruded upon th e privacy ofPlaintiffs’staff.

245. Defendants’intentionalintrus ion upon th e privacy ofPlaintiffs’staffw ould be

h igh ly offens ive to a reasonable person in ligh tofth e m alice and oppre s s ion underlying

Defendants’m otives and objectives , th e nature ofth e invas ion (covertsurveillance by electronic

recording device s), Defendants’intrus ion by dece itand dis regard for th e law , th e h istory of

violence, h aras sm entand oppre s s ion perpetrated by anti-abortion extrem ists againstanyone

connected w ith abortion and e specially abortion providers , and th e lik elih ood th atpublication of

Defendants video tape s w ould lead to s im ilar h aras sm entand violence againstPlaintiffs’staff. As

a re sultofDefendants’conduct, Plaintiffs’staffh ave suffered and w illcontinue to suffer

irreparable injury.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

W H EREFORE, Plaintiffs re q ue streliefas follow s :

1. Th atjudgm entbe entered in favor ofPlaintiffs and againstDefendants on each and

every claim in th is Com plaint.

2. Appropriate injunctive reliefto w h ich Plaintiffs are entitled, including butnot
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lim ited to enjoining Defendants and th e ir officers , agents , s ervants , em ployee s , ow ners , and

repre s entatives , and alloth er persons , firm s , or corporations in active concertor participation w ith

th em , from :

 Entering or attem pting to enter a PPFA conference or affiliate h ealth center
w ith outfully disclos ing th e ir true identity, th e ir purpos e for s e e k ing
entrance, and w h eth er th ey intend to tak e any video, audio, ph otograph ic, or
oth er recordings once ins ide;and

 Film ing or oth e rw is e recording any private m e eting or conversation w ith
Plaintiffs’staffor ata Planned Parenth ood affiliate h ealth center facility
w ith outth e inform ed cons entofallpartie s be ing recorded.

3. Re stitution ofallm onie s expended by Plaintiffs as a re sultofDefendant’s

unlaw ful, unfair, and fraudulentbus ine s s practice s as provided by California Bus ine s s and

Profe s s ions Code §17203.

4. Com pensatory dam age s in such am ounts as th e Courtdeem s justand proper.

5. Statutory penaltie s and dam age s in such am ounts as th e Courtdeem s justand

proper.

6. O n Plaintiffs’CivilRICO claim and California PenalCode claim s , th re e tim e s th e

dam age s Plaintiffs h ave sustained as a re sultofDefendants’conduct.

7. Punitive dam age s pursuantto applicable state law s .

8. Th atth e Courtaw ard Plaintiffs costs and disburs em ents for th is law suit, including

for reasonable attorneys’fee s as perm itted by law .

9 . Such oth er and furth er reliefas th is Courtm ay de em justand proper.

DATED: January 14, 2016 Re spectfully subm itted,

ARNO LD & PORTER LLP

By: /s/ Amy L. Bomse
Am y L. Bom s e

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiffs dem and a jury trialfor allclaim s for reliefproperly tried to a jury.

DATED: January 14, 2016 Re spectfully subm itted,

ARNO LD & PORTER LLP

By: /s/ Amy L. Bomse
Am y L. Bom s e

Attorneys for Plaintiffs


